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UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

TRACY R.NEWELL,
Plaintiff, : Civil Action No.: 17-2695RC)
V. : ReDocument No.: 16

STEVENT. MNUCHIN, SECRETARYOF
U.S.DEPARTMENTOF TREASURY

Defendant.

MEMORANDUM OPINION

GRANTING DEFENDANT’SMOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT
[. INTRODUCTION

OnDecemben2, 2017U.S Departmenbf theTreasuryemployeelracy Newell brought
this employmendiscriminationactionpursuanto Title VII of theCivil RightsAct of 1964, 42
U.S.C. 8§ 2000estseq, asamended“Title VII"). Ms. Newell allegesthat shewasdiscrimindged
againstonaccountf race(African American)andsex(female),retaliatedagainstdueto her
prior Equal Employment OpportuniffEEQ”) activity, andsubjectedo a hostilework
environmenby the sexualharassmendf herwhite, malecoworkers! More specifically,Ms.
Newell contendghatshewassubjectedo “different anddisparateconditions” dudo herrace
andgender/sexandthat,when“shecomplainedabout]herdisparatdreatmentDefendant
retaliatedoy demotingher”in 2014. Compl. 1seealsoid. 1 9. Shdurtheraversthat“this

retaliationcontinued”whenheremployer‘denied[her] a bonusgdeniedthe opportunityto takea

! Plaintiff's original complaint also included age discrimination claims pursuant to the
Age Discrimination in Employment Act of 1967 (“ADEA”SeeCompl. 1, ECF No. 1. Because
Plaintiff has agreed to withdraw her ADEA claiseePl.’s Opp’n to Def.’s MatSumm. J.
(“Pl.’s Opp’n”) 1 11 n.1, the Court does not address this aspect of Plaintiff’'s complaint.

Dockets.Justia.com


https://dockets.justia.com/docket/district-of-columbia/dcdce/1:2017cv02695/192582/
https://docs.justia.com/cases/federal/district-courts/district-of-columbia/dcdce/1:2017cv02695/192582/23/
https://dockets.justia.com/

leadershipdevelopmentraining class,”and“promot[ed]at leasttwo lessqualified co-workers
who did not haveo competefor the supervisorposition[that Ms.] Newell hadappliedfor.” Id.
at 1. Defendanimoved forsummaryjudgment orall claims,arguingfirst, thatMs. Newell
failed to timely andproperlyexhausheradministrativeremediedor herclaimsof retaliationand
non-selectionfor a supervisory position; secoritdat Defendanhasputforth alegitimate,non-
discriminatoryreasorfor her2014reassignmengndfinally, thattheallegedincidents do not
constituteanactionablehostilework environmentlaim. SeeDef.’s Mem. SupportingDef.’s
Mot. Summ.J. (“Def.’s Mem.”) 1-4. Forthe reasonsetforth below, the Courgrants
Defendant’smotionfor summaryjudgment orall claims?

[I. BACKGROUND

A. Factual History 3

Ms. Newell's claimsinvolve severalkategorie®f activity occurringbetweer2012and

2017. The Courtwill summarizeesachof thesecategoriesn turn, beginningvith theevents
surroundingPlaintiff’s removalfrom a TemporaryPlatePrinterAssistantSupervisor positiom

March2014;thendescribing the@ventsthatgive riseto Plaintiff’'s harassmerdndhostilework

2 Although the Court considers all materials before it in deciding Defendantemibti
notes that Defendant’s reply brief—which runs to thirty-siggsa-does not comply with the
local rules. SeeL.CvR7(e) (“A memorandum of points and authorities in support of or in
opposition to a motion shall not exceed 45 pages and a reply memorandum shall not exceed 25
pages, without prior approval of the Court.”).

3 On a motion for summary judgment, the Court accepts themmant’s evidence-
here, Plaintiff—as true.Anderson vLiberty Lobby, Ing 477 U.S. 242, 255 (1986)The
evidence of the non-movant is to be believed, and all justifiable inferences argréaspen his
favor.” (citing Adickes vSH. Kress & Co, 398 U.S. 144, 158-59 (1970)lUnless otherwise
indicated, this reporting of the facts draws from material facts that Plairgifhbecated are not
in dispute. See generalll.’s Satement of Material Facts



environmentlaims;andthenconcludingwith theeventssurroundingPlaintiff's 2017 non-
selectionclaim andsubsequentlaimsof discriminationandretaliation.
1. 2014Reassignment

Ms. Newell beganworkingin theU.S. TreasuryDepartment’8Bureauof Engravingand
Printing (“BEP”) in 1987andhasheldseveralpositionsin theBEP sincethattime. SeePl.’s
Statemenbf Material Facts(*SMF”) 2, ECFNo. 19-1# In 2004, shdecamea PlatePrinter,a
positionin which she worked on the daift andwasdirectly supervisedy Bob Smith. Id. at
3. In 2012,Ms. Newell appliedfor a TemporaryPlatePrinterAssistantSuperviso(*Temporary
AssistantSupervisor”) positionld. at 3. This positionwasadvertisedvith the statementhatit
wasa “temporary promotion ndt-exceed ['NTE’] 1 yeaf id.; seealsoPl.’s Opp’nEx. 13,
VacancyAnnouncemenio. 2012-085M ECF No. 19-15which “may be madepermanent
without further competition,”Pl.’s Opp’nEx. 13at 1. With thistemporarypromotion,Ms.
Newell switchedto the eveninghift andwasdirectly supervisedy DenitaSimmonswith Mr.
Smith nowactingashersecondine supervisor.Pl.’'s SMF 4.

This oneyearNTE temporarypromotionwassetto endon SeptembeR2, 2013.1d. at 5.
However,Ms. Newell continuedn this positionuntil March 2014,id., whenshewasreassigned
to herformerPlatePrinterposition,effectiveMarch 31, 2014jd. at 7-8. Thecorefacts
concerningoothMs. Newell’stimein this positionbetweerSeptembeR013andMarch 2014
andherMarch 2014reassignmeraredisputed.Ms. Newell assertshather positionwasmade
permanenaftera oneyearprobationary periodn keepingwith pastBEP practicessuchthather

reassignmenwasa “demotion.” Id. at 7.

4 Because every page of this filing is labelled as page 33, the Court retees3GF
page numbers for this document.



Defendantssertghattherewasno suchpermanenassignmenanddemotion, butather
areassignmento her prior position once themporarytermended On this version okvents,
which Plaintiff contestsseegenerallyPl.’s SMF 3—-9,Ms. Newell’'s managergxtendeder
initial temporaryassignmentor six months(from Septembe3, 20130 March 23, 2014) upon
the approval oPatrickW. Zunkerin theagency’shumanresourceg‘HR”) departmentd. at 5.
Accordingto DefendantMs. Newell's supervisorattemptedo furtherextendhertemporary
promotionin March 2014, butvereinformedby anewHR representativeRatriciaMendoza,
thatthe priorextensionof bothMs. Newell andanotheremployeeappointedo thesame
temporaryacancyat thesametime, RichardGibel, hadbeenin error. 1d. at 5—7. Becausepn
Ms. Mendoza’'sead,the governing provisions 5 C.F.R. 335 prohibitedn extensiorof these
NTE positions beyontheadvertisederm(here,oneyear) id. at 7, Mr. Smithinformed
Plaintiff's directsupervisorMs. SimmonsthatMs. Newell would not be continuingn her
temporarypromotion.id. at 33. Defendanstateghat, basedonthis information,Ms. Newell
wasreturnedto hernon-supervisorylatePrinterposition onMarch31, 20143 Id. at7. Mr.
Gibelwasalsoreturnedo his previouslyheld position,Acting PlatePrinterAssistant
Supervisorjn lateMarch2014. Id. at 8—9. Two othermaleemployeesMr. SmithandDonovan
Elliott, werealsoreassigneatthistime. Id. at 8. Defendanstateghatthesetwo individuals

werein temporarypromotionalassignmentanddeniedextensionvy Ms. Mendoza on theame

> The material in the recombes not indicate explicitly whether Ms. Newell returned to
the day shift (her placement before the temporary promotion) or the eveningeshftagement
during her time as Temporary Assistant Supervisor). However, Plaintifidese chart with
comparative data for the evening shift of the Plate Printing Division on which sheet, fise
Pl.’s Opp’n Ex. 4, ECF No. 18; as well as a list of Plate Printing Division employees in which
she is included among the evening shift printees, id at Ex. 28, ECF No. 19-30. The Court
thus infers that the March 2014 Plate Printer reassignment was to the eveningeshif
Anderson477 U.Sat 255 gitation omitted)“ The evidence of the non-movant is to be believed,
and all justifiable inferences are to be drawn in [Hhevpr.”).



groundsasherdenialof Ms. Newell's extensionijd. at 8, whereupoMr. Smithwasreturnedto
his positionasPlatePrinter SupervisoreffectiveApril 6, 2014d. at9, andMr. Elliott was
returnedo his positionasPlatePrinterAssistantSupervisoreffective April 25, 2014jd. at9.
Plaintiff disputeghatthesetwo individualswerein factin temporary positionat thetime of
theirreassignmentSeed. at 8-9.

OnMay 2, 2014 Ms. Newellinitiated contactwith an Equal Employment Opportunity
(“EEQO”) counselor.SeePl.’s Opp’nEx. 33,EEO Counselor's Report ZCFNo. 19-35. A
formal EEO complaintwasfiled on June 2, 2014d. at Ex. 34,ECFNo. 19-36,andMs.
Newell’s claimwasacceptedn June 13, 2014q. at Ex. 38, EEO Acceptance.etter, ECFNo.
19-40. Thecomplaintacceptedor investigationwas“[w]hether Complainanivassubjectedo
disparatdreatmenbasedon race(African-American),sex(female),andage (over 40yvhenshe
learnedon March 31, 2014hatshewasnotmadeapermanenpPlatePrinterAssistantSupervisor
andtold to returnto herformer positionasaPlatePrinter.” EEO Acceptancéd.etterl. Asthe
CourtnextdescribesMs. Newell subsequentlgmendedhis complaintto includeharassment
andhostilework environmentlaims.

2. Events Underlying 2014arassmenandHostile Work EnvironmeniClaims

Thesexualharassmerandhostilework environment components Bfaintiff's complaint
arisefrom severalincidents involvingco-workersandone incident involving directsupervisor
thatoccurredduringandsoonafterMs. Newell’s time working asa TemporaryAssistant
Supervisor.Theseeventsareclusteredn early2014. First,while Ms. Newell wasoperatingn
hertemporary supervisoryapacity sheallegeshatamale coworkeraskedherto goto astrip
club andto sexuallyengagewith anotheffemaleemployee Def.’s Exhibitsin Support oDef.’s

Mot. Summ.J. (“Def.’s Exhibits”) Ex. 19,Sept.12, 2014Declarationof TracyR. Newell



(“SecondNewell Decl.”), ECFNo. 17-19;seealsoPl.’s Opp’nEx. 45, Email to Dennis
Wahkinney (documenting incidefdar EEO counselor)ECFNo. 19-47. The individuah
guestionwaslateridentified asPlatePrinterPeterSteormann.Def.’s Exhibits Ex. 44,Pl.’s Resp.
Def.’s First Setof InterrogatoriesECFNo. 17-44. In responseMs. Newell stateghat she“told
him [she] did notengagen thatactivity’” andthatshe“did notappreciaténim sayinganythingin
thatmanner,” Secontlewell Decl. 148, 53, whereupon thmalesubordinatemployee
“apologizedandsaidhewasonly joking,”id. 1149, 54. Therewerenowitnessego this
interaction. Id. § 52. However,AsaSoule, anothePlatePrinter,stateghat PeterSteormannalso
askedherto goto astrip clubwith him. Pl.’s Opp’n Ex. 52, Declarationof AsaSoule 3ECF
No. 19-54. Ms. Newell addsthatit was*“not unusualfor maleemployeedo approachtand
request'sexualfavorsunder theguiseof humor.”Second\Newell Decl. § 55. She suggedtsat
suchincidentsweremorefrequentin February2014,whenshewasalso“referredto as‘Baby’

and‘Honey’ by anotherindividualand“touchedon the buttockby athird male. Pl.’'s Resp.
Def.’s First Setof Interrogatorieq] 1. Shelsosuggestshattherewasongoingsexualbehavior
in the workplaceandstateghat sheobservedwo unnamed superiors engagingsuchconduct
on“severaloccasions” spannint9 monthsin theyearof 2013and2 monthsn theyear2014.”
Second\Newell Decl. 1160-61. Ms. SimmonsPlaintiff’'s immediatesupervisoraversthatMs.
Newell neverinformedher of theseincidents. Def.’s Exhibits Ex. 11, Declarationof Denita
Simmong(“*SimmonsDecl.”) 12-13 ECFNo. 17-11. Ms. Newell declined to escalate the

matter. Id. Mr. Smith alsostateghathewasunawareof theseincidents. Def.’s Exhibits Ex. 12,

March 14, 2019Declarationof RobertE. Smith(“Third SmithDecl.”) § 44,ECFNo. 17-12.



Thenextincidentoccurredon or abouFebruary21, 20145 whenamaleco-worker,
Dennis Dunnapproached/s. Newellatwork. 1d. § 2" Therewerenodirectwitnesseso this
event. SeeDef.’s ExhibitsEx. 6, EEO InvestigativeFile BatesNo. 00020—-00022-CFNo. 17-6.
Accordingto Ms. Newell, Mr. Dunnwas*“agitatedaboutwork relatedissues”andapproached
Ms. Newell, “becamevery aggressive,andthen proceeded to refertmMs. Newellasan
“idiot.” Second\Newell Decl. 9. Becauseshewas“afraid of him,” Ms. Newell did notspeak
with Mr. Dunnandinsteadreportedthe incidento herdirectsupervisorMs. Simmons.Id. at
10. Ms. Simmonsin turnwentto speakwith Mr. Dunn,who was“extremelyagitated,”and“told
him thatheneededa cooling down period.’SimmonsDecl. 8.

Theincidentwasthenfurtherescalatednternally. Ms. Simmonsraisedthe incidento
Mr. Smith, hersupervisoraswell asto the agency’ €mployeelLaborManagemenRelations
Division (“EMLRD”). 1d.; seealsoDef.’s Exhibits Ex. 12-C, Email ChainbetweerDenita
SimmonsBob Smith,andELMRD RepresentativeeCFNo. 17-12. Mr. SmithandMs.
SimmonsstatethatMr. Dunnwasdisciplinedfor his behaviowith a one-day suspensiand
assignmenof arequiredangemanagementlass. Third SmithDecl.  14. Ms. Newell
maintainghatMr. Dunnwasneverrequiredto servehis suspensionPl.’s SMF 33(citing Pl.’s

Opp’n Ex. 27, DunnStatementf EarningsandLeave,ECFNo. 19-29).

® The EEO charge reports this event as occurring in 2013. Pl.’s Opp’n FE®1L
Amended Acceptance Letter, ECF No:-4® However, the emails that appear to address these
events, the declarations of supervising officials, and the statement ofaiiatets all date the
event to 2014. Moreover, the agency’s notice of decision proposing a suspension for Mr. Dunn’s
“improper conduct” was issued on March 27, 2014. Def.’s Exhibits Ex. 18, Memorandum for
Dennis M. Dunn, ECF No. 17-18. Thus, the Court dates the incident to 2014.

" This deposition was filed along with an earlier deposition by Ms. Newell as gart of
single exhibit. For clarity, the Court uses the ECF page numbers to referdodhraent.



The nexteventonwhich Plaintiff baseserhostilework environmenandharassment
claimsalsoinvolvesMs. NewellandMr. Dunn. OnMarch 27, 2014, both individuaksswell
Mr. Smith,Ms. SimmonsandUnion RepresentativdoshGoadwerepresenat ameetingto
addressheearlierincidentbetweerMs. Newell andMr. Dunn® Ms. Newell allegesthatMr.
Dunnaccusederof havinganaffair with aco-workerduringthis meeting. Pl.'s SMF 10-11.
Otherindividuals present at the meeting have differentllectionsof this event.Ms. Simmons
recallsacommentaboutPlaintiff's relationshipwith aco-workerandMr. Smithrecalls“a vague
remarkaboutPlaintiff andaco-workerthat Dunnhadaseparatéssuewith,” which “did not
comeacrosgo Smithashaving asexualconnotation.”ld. at 11. NeitherMs. SmithnorMs.
Simmonsbelievedthatthe commentwarrantedanydisciplineor furtheraction. 1d.

In further support otheseclaims,Plaintiff pointsto aseparateonflict onMay 19, 2014,
afterherreassignmenb PlatePrinter. Onthis date,aco-worker,Charleswheelock raisedhis
voiceat Ms. Newell and“treatedherin ahostilemanner”following a disputet the printing
pressesoncerninganovertimeschedule.Pl.’s SMF 13. Awitnessto the incidentemployee
MichaelNardozzi,characterized/r. Wheelockas*“loud andboisterous.”ld. (citing Def.’s Exs.

Ex 20, SupervisorsEmail ChainRegardingVheelockincident2, ECFNo. 17-20). Ms. Newell

8 As with the underlying incident, the EEO charge reports this event as ocdnr?iog3.
EEO Amended Acceptance Lette30o, too, does Mr. Smith’s declaration describe the event as
occurring around March 27, 2013. Third Smith Decl. I 15. However, the involved parties
characterize the meeting as one to address earlier eseatsy., Simmons Decl. { 27; October
23, 2014 Declaration of Robert Smith (“Second Smith Decl.”) § 15 (describing thengnasgti
one “to discuss Mr. Dunn’s behavior”), Newell Decl. 14 (describing meeting adooéeMr.
Dunn calling her an “idiot”). In addin, Plaintiff's filings include an email reporting the
incident to Ms. Simmons that is dated April 1, 2014. Pl.’s Opp’n Ex. 44, ECF No. 19-46. Thus,
the most logical interpretation is that the meeting in question occurred arourtd 24a2014, in
response to the February 21, 2014, altercation involving Mr. Dunn and Ms. Newell. Taking the
non-movant (Ms. Newell’s¢vidence as tryénderson477 U.Sat 255, the Court adopts this
interpretation.



reportedtheincidentto herdirectsupervisomat thetime, JameRiddick, who escalatedheissue
to his supervisorMs. Simmons. SeeSupervisorsEmail ChainRegarding/Vheelockincident.
Plaintiff alsoreportedtheissueto BEP security. Newell Decl. 6. Ms. Newell stateghatMr.
Wheelock‘got counselec&ndwasforce[d] to stayadistance”awayfrom her. Id. at8. The
agency’sformal investigation concludethatthe “supervisors took actioms separatéhe
involvedparties,”’andthatMs. Newell had“acceptedhe apology of thallegedaggressoand
[was] satisfiedwith the working environmentSuchthatno furtheradministrativeactionwas
requiredto addresgheincident. Def.’s Exhibits Ex. 43, Report of Investigation ECFNo. 19-
45; seealsoid. at Ex. 46, MemorandunRegardingCompletednvestigation(indicating
“NEWELL is satisfiedwith theactionstaken”), ECFNo. 19-48.

Finally, Plaintiff's hostilework environmentlaim alsoinvolves aseparat@ventwith a
supervisoryofficial, Mr. Smith. Onanunspecifieddatein March 2014,while Ms. Newell was
still working on the nighshift asa TemporarAssistantSupervisorMr. Smith—the dayshift
supervisor—stayedateto checkin with shopfloor employees.Pl.’s SMF 14-15. Theparties’
accountsof this eveningdiverge. Ms. Newell stateghatMr. Smithheld asegregatedeeting
thatincluded onlywhite males Id. 15. Mr. Riddick,anAssistantPlatePrinting Supervisor
presenbon thefloor, confirmsthat“therewasameetingandall white maleswerepresent,'while
“four blackfemalesandoneblackmalein theroom. . .werenotmadepart of themeeting.”
Pl.’s Opp’'nEx. 51, Declarationof Jame<Riddick 5,ECFNo. 19-53. Anotheemployee]ntaglio
PlatePrinterDeirdreVeney,witnessedhe meetingandfoundit “to beracially [biased]and
sexist. .. dueto thefactthatall the attendingrinterswereCaucasiamndmale.” Id. at Ex. 49,
Declarationof DeirdreVeney,ECFNo. 19-51. Mr. Smith contendghatanysuchdivisionwas

happenstancéhe meeting’'s demographics wexdyproduct of théactthathebeganhis rounds



atthepressoccupiedoy the most senigplateprinters,all of whomwerewhite males. Second
SmithDecl. 1 22—-23.He stateghatheproceededo have thesamenformal conversatiorat
other printingpressesincludingAfrican AmericanfemalePlatePrinters. 1d. §124-25. Nonef
the other incidentexpresslyinvolve race,although the individual incidentescribedcabove
eachinvolved a confrontatiobetweerMs. Newell andawhite, maleco-worker.

On August 7, 2014Ms. Newellamendederinitial EEO complaint ofdiscriminationto
includeclaimsrelatedto the abovedescribedevents.Pl.’s Opp’'nEx. 40,EEO Amended
Acceptancd.etter, ECFNo. 19-40. This complaintwasformally acknowledgedn an August
11, 2015]etteracceptingor investigationwhetherMs. Newell was“subjectedto sexual
harassmenand/or ahostilework environmenbasedonrace(African American)andsex
(female)” Id. atBatesNo. 00074.0n SeptembeR9, 2017, thagencyissuedafinal decison
with a “finding of nodiscriminationfor all assertealaims. Pl.’s Opp’nEx. 41,Dep’t of the
TreasuryFinal AgencyDecision10,ECFNo. 17-41.

3. 2015Non-Selectionfor PermanenPosition

Separatelyaspreviously mentionedvis. Newell's complaint includesllegationsof
discriminatoryandretaliatorynonselectionfor apermanenpPlatePrinterAssistantSupervisor
position. In lateMarch 2015, theagencyposted avacancyannouncement fdwo suchpositions,
to which Plaintiff applied. Pl.'s SMF 17. Ms. Newell advancedo theinterviewstagealong
with eightothereligible candidatesld. However,in July 2015this vacancywascanceled
without explanation.ld. at 18. In August2015, theagencyre-posted thesamevacancy
announcementhistime for threeavailablepositions. Id. at 18—19. Plaintiff againappliedand
receivedaninterview. Id. at 19, 21. In October 2015, sheasnotified that shenadnotbeen

selectedor the position.Id. at 33. However,Ms. Newell assertshat she“was unawarehat

10



[her] nonselectionwasdiscriminatoryuntil” 2017, whenshe“overhearda conversation
discussing” theselectedndividuals’ qualifications. Id. at 34. Thereafterpn August 25, 2017,
Ms. Newell contactecan EEO counseloto initiate a compdint allegingthatshewas
“discriminatedagainst on thbasisof race(African-American),sex(female)andreprisal(prior
EEOactivity)” whenshewasnotselectedor the 2015PlatePrinterAssistantSupervisor
positionandwhenshelearnedon August18, 2017that severalemployeesvho wereActing
Supervisorsat thetime of the announcemerdandoneemployeevho wasnotactingasa
supervisorweremadepermanentor the position oPlatePrinterAssistantSupervisor.” Def.’s
Exhibits Ex. 93-A, Notice of Rightto File aDiscriminationComplaint,ECFNo. 19-95. Ms.
Newellfiled aformal complaintonDecembe#, 2017 andtheagencysubsequentlissueda
final decisiondismissingthe 2017EEO complaint on the groundbatMs. Newell hadfailed to
complywith Title VII's requirementgor timely filing of claims. Pl.’s Opp’n Ex. 94,Dep’t of
the Treasury2017Final AgencyDecision1l, ECFNo. 19-96.
4. “On the Spot” Bonusind Training Opportunity

Plaintiff's initial 2017EEO counselingoutreachalsomentionedwo furtherallegations
thatwerenotaddressetly theagencyin its final decision,seePl.’s Opp’nEx. 94, 2017Final
AgencyDecision,ECF No. 19-96 andwhich Plaintiff nowraisesbeforethe Court. Specifically,
the handwritten submission theinitial contactsheeffor Ms. Newell’'s 2017EEOQ consultation
statedthatshe*ha[d] beendeniedclasseshatwould help position[her] for a promotion”and
that“Richard Zachmannwasallowedto taketh][is] class”andalsothat she“wantedto file [a]
retaliationcomplaint on thelenialof a bonusandtheseotherissueson MondayAugust14,
2014].” Pl.’s Opp’nEx. 93, BEP Office of EqualOpportunityandDiversity Managemenhnitial

ContactSheets, ECFNo. 19-95;seealsoPl.’s SMF 34—36. Theseclaimswerenot mentionedn

11



theEEO notice ofright to file acomplaint,seeid. at Ex. 93-A, theinformal EEO complaint,see
id. atEx. 93-B, or theformal EEO complaintfiled onDecembe#, 2017 seeDef.’s Exhibits Ex.
35,ECFNo. 17-35,all of which included only the noselectionallegationsdescribedabove.

Theallegationsconcerningdenialof a bonusarisefrom BEP’s practiceof giving “on the
spot”awardsat management'discretion. Pl.’'s SMF 34. ThepartiesagreethatMs. Newellwas
notinitially grantedsucha bonusn 2017, butheir accountf this eventaredisputed.Ms.
Newell assertshathernamewasincludedfor such a bonuandthatothers orherteamwere
grantedthis bonus, but shevasexcludeduntil shefiled agrievance.Pl.’s Resp.Def.’s First Set
of Interrogatorieq] 17. DefendanstateghatMs. Newellwasnotselectedor a bonusecause
theemployeesvho receivedthe“on the spot’awardthatyearworkedon thedaytimeshift,
whereadlaintiff wasemployedon thenighttimeshift duringthatyear. Pl.’s SMF 34. Plaintiff
was ultimately awarded the bonus after she internally appealed this niRitteiResp. Def.’s
First Set of Interrogatories Y 17 (“I did not receive a bonus until | fileteaance about it.
Only then was one approved.8ee alsdPl.’s Opp’n 24(indicating Plaintiff received the bonus
after contesting the decision).

Thetraining opportunityatissuealsoarosein 2017. On Februaryl6, 2017 Mr. Smith
receivedanemailfrom the coordinatofor BEP’s LeanSigmasSix (“LSS”) coursesJeffrey
FreemanindicatingthatMs. Newell hadaskedfor permission tattendanLSS"greenbelt”
coursethatwould requireherto beoff of the printingpressfor atotal of two weeksin Marchand
April 2017. 1d. 35-36. DefendanstateghatMr. Smithdeniedthis trainingrequesdueto
staffingneedson the eveninghift, wherePlaintiff works. 1d. at 36. Plaintiff disputeghis
explanationassertinghat“[t]here areatleast15 othereveningshift employeego coverfor

[her]” andpointingto thefactthat“[a] white[] malewith no knownEEO activity alsohadthe

12



sameamount ofcoveragebutwasapprovedor thetraining.” Id. Neitherthisaspecof
Plaintiff's complaint noherallegationsconcerningdenialof a bonusvereincludedin the
formal complaintacceptedy theagencyfor investigationin 2017,which waslimited to the
abovedescribedliscriminatoryandretaliatorynonselectiomallegation SeeDep't of the
Treasury2017Final AgencyDecisionl (dismissingallegationthatMs. Newell was
“discriminatedagainst on thbasisof race[,]. . . sex|,] . . andin retaliationfor prior protected
activity . . .when,in 2015, shavasnotselectedor . . .permanensupervisor positions”).
. LEGAL STANDARD

1. Motionfor SummaryJudgment

Summaryjudgments properwhen“the movant showshatthereis no genuine disputas
to anymaterialfactandthe movants entitledto judgmentasamatterof law.” Fed.R. Civ. P.
56(a). A “material” factis onecapableof affectingthe substantive outcome of thitegation.
SeeAnderson vLiberty Lobby,Inc., 477U.S.242, 248 (1986). A disputs “genuine”if thereis
enough evidencr a reasonable finder édictto decidein favor of the non-movantSeeScott
v. Harris, 550U.S.372, 380 (2007).

Summaryjudgment endeavots streamlinditigation by disposingof factually
unsupportedlaimsor defensesndtherebydeterminingwhethertrial is genuinelynecessary.
SeeCelotexCorp. v. Catrett 477U.S.317, 323-24 (1986)The movantbearstheinitial burden
of identifying portions of theecordthatdemonstrate thabsencef any genuinassueof
materialfact. SeeFed.R. Civ. P.56(c)(1);Celotex 477U.S.at 323. In response, the non-
movant must pointo specfic factsin therecordthatreveala genuinessuethatis suitablefor
trial. SeeCelotex 477 U.Sat324. In considering anotionfor summaryudgment, a court must

“eschewmakingcredibility determination®r weighingtheevidencel,]'Czekalskv. Peters 475

13



F.3d 360, 363D.C. Cir. 2007),andall underlyingfactsandinferencesnmust beanalyzedn the
light most favorabléo the non-movantseeAnderson477U.S.at 255. Nevertheless,
conclusory assertiordferedwithoutanyevidentiarysupport do nogstablisha genuinessue
for trial. SeeGreenev. Dalton, 164 F.3d 671, 678).C. Cir. 1999).
2. ProceduraRequirementsn Title VII Suits

Title VII “provides that before filing suit, an individual alleging that a fedagancy
engaged in employment discrimination must seek administrative adjudication ofithé cla
Scott vJohanns409 F. 3d 466, 468 (D.C. Cir. 20Q6)ting 42 U.S.C. § 2000e—16 More
specifically asrelevanthere,afederalgovernmenemployeenho “believds] theyhavebeen
discriminatedagainston thebasisof” raceor gender‘must consult a Counselor pritw filing a
[formal EEO] complaintin orderto try to informally resolvethe matter 29 C.F.R. §
1614.10%a). Suchcontactmust beanitiated“within 45 daysof the dateof thematterallegedto
bediscriminatoryor, in thecaseof personneéction,within 45 daysof theeffectivedateof the
action.” Id. at§ 1614.108a)(1). If an individualthereafterchooseso file aformal complaint,
theagencymust,within 180daysof thefiling, “conductanimpartialandappropriate
investigationof the complaint,’ld. at 8§ 1614.106e)(2), “provide the complainawith acopy of
theinvestigativefile,” andnotify the individual that,within 30 daysof [receiptof] the
investigativefile,” she “mayrequest . .animmediatefinal decisiori from therelevantagency
or, in thealternative pursue otheforms of furtheradministrativerelief, id. at § 1614.10§).
Uponreceiptof thefinal agencyactionon a complaint, the individuahay, within ninetydays,
file acivil actionin U.S.district court. Id. at§ 1614.407.These administrative deadlines “are

not jurisdictional. Rather, they function like a statute of limitations diice a statute of
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limitations, [are] subject to waiver, estoppel, and equitable tdllingrown v Marsh, 777 F.2d
8, 14 (D.C. Cir. 1985) (quotingipes v Trans World Airlines, Ing 455 U.S. 385, 393 (1982)

“Becausaintimely exhaustion oddministrativeremediess anaffirmative defensethe
defendanbearsthe burdenof pleadingandprovingit.” Bowden vUnited States 106 F.3d 433,
437(D.C.Cir. 1997)(citing Brown, 777 F.2dat 13). If adefendantarriesthis burdendismissal
is proper. SeePayne vSalazar 619 F.3d 56, 68D.C. Cir. 2010)(affirming trial court’s
dismissalof plaintiff's claim for failure to exhausadministrativeeemedies) Sierrav. Hayden
(“Sierral”), 254F. Supp. 3d 230, 236—3D.D.C. 2017)(dismissingplaintiff's Title VII claim
becaus®f failure to exhaustadministrativeremedies).More than rneager conclusory
allegationghattheplaintiff failed to exhausheradministrativeremediesare required to
discharge thidurden. Brown 777 F.2cat 12.

Additionally, in federaldistrict courtactionsbrought undeflitle VII, acourthas
authority over only thoselaimsthatarecontainedn theplaintiff’s administrativecomplaint or
claims“like or reasonablyelatedto” thoseclaimsin theadministrativecomplaints. Park, 71
F.3dat907;seealsoHaynesv. D.C. Water& SewerAuth, 924 F.3d 519, 526—-4D.C. Cir.
2019)(citing Park, 71F.3dat907);Kennedy vWhitehurst690 F.2d 951, 96(D.C. Cir. 1982)).
A “reasonablyelated”claim “must[,]Jataminimur,] . . .arisefrom theadministrative
investigationthatcanreasonablye expectedo follow thechargeof discrimination.” Haynes
924 F.3dat 526-27(citing Payne 619 F.3dat 65) (internalquotationmarksandalteration
omitted.

IV. ANALYSIS
Ms. Newell's claimsin the suitfiled in this Courtarisefrom two EEO complaintghat

shefiled in 2014and2017. Defendantargueghat, exceptfor thediscriminationclaim basedon
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her2014reassignmerdand theclaim for denialof a bonusall theclaimsthatMs. Newell has
presentedo the Courtsufferfrom procedurateficienciesand,accordingly,summaryjudgment
should begrantedn theagency'sfavor?® SeeDef.’s Mem. 10 (“Plaintiff Failedto Timely
ExhaustHer AdministrativeRemediegor EachandEveryDiscreteAlleged Unlawful
Employment Action”). Defendantlsoargueghattheagencyhasoffereda legitimate,non-
discriminatoryreasorfor the 2014 eassignmerdnd 201 denialof a bonusrespectivelyand
urges the Coutb grantsummaryjudgmenton these claimsFor the reasonsetforth below, the
Courtagreesvith Defendanttheclaims allegingretaliationin 2014, nonselectionin 2015,and
discriminatoryandretaliatorydenialof atraining opportunityin 2017 respectivelydo notclear
Title VII's procedurabarbecause Plaintiff did not timely exhaust these claims administratively,
andPlaintiff does noestablisha genuinessueof materialfact sufficientto survivesummary
judgment orherotherclaims.
A. DiscoveryConduct

Beforeassessinthe pendingmotionfor summaryjudgment,the Courtdiscussest
proceduramatterraisedby Ms. Newell: whether discoverganctionsareappropriatéhere.
Plaintiff's openingargumenin heroppositionto Defendant’smotionfor summaryjudgment
assertsfor thefirst time, thatDefendantshould besanctionedor its discoveryconductand
“relifance] upon information natimely produced during theiscoveryperiod.” Pl.’s Mot.

Opp’n Def.’s Mot. Summ. J. (“Pl.’s Opp’n”) &ECFNo. 19. This allegationcenterson

® The agency properly raised this affirmative defense in its ansSe=ECF No. 7
(stating, as its first defense, that “Plaintiff is barred from bringing anmsl#hat she did not
timely present to the Agency and for which she did not properly exhaust her admneistra
remedies”). And it further provided description of its exhaustion defenses in regpons
Plaintiff's interrogatories during discoveryeeDef.’s Exhibits Ex. 43, Def.’s Resp. PI.’s First
Set of Disc. Req. 11 7-8, ECF No. 17-43. Accordingly, contrary to Plaintiff’'s argument,
Defendant hasat waived or forfeited its failure to exhaust defenses.
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Defendant’'ssupplemental production of documeatterthecloseof discovery The Courtwill
briefly recountsalientdiscoverydatesandlitigation timing to contextualizeheparties’
arguments.

Discoveryin this suitclosedon November 5, 2018SeeSchedulingOrder,ECFNo. 9.
Defendant’dirst supplemental productiacameafterthis date. On March 8, 2019, onaveek
beforefiling its motionfor summaryjudgmentDefendanemailedPlaintiff that“the Agency
verylikely hasadditional responsive documemngdatingto the 2015 norselection”andthat it
would thereforeé'needto makea supplemental document productioRl’s Opp’nEx. 98,ECF
No. 19-100. Defendantinitially proposed #hirty-day postponement diriefing deadlinego
accommodatéhe supplemental productiomd. Accordingto DefendantPlaintiff opposedhis
extensionseeDef.’s Mot. for Extension offime 1, ECFNo. 15, whereupoiefendanimoved
for atwo-dayextensiorof the originalsummaryjudgmentboriefing schedulewhich Plaintiff also
opposedid. at 1-2. The Courtgrantedthis two-dayextensiornoverPlaintiff’'s objection,see
Min. Order(Mar. 12, 2019) and Defendant subsequenfiled its motionfor summaryjudgment
onMarch 15, 2019seeDef.’s Mot. Summ J.ECFNo. 16.

A furthersupplemental production followedn April 5, 2019 Defendansentan email
notifying Plaintiff’'s counsekhatit wasagainsupplementing document productimprovide 150
pagesof additional documents pertinaotPlaintiff’'s 2015 nonselectionclaim. Pl.’s Opp’nEx.
100,ECFNo. 19-102. Plaintiff thenmovedfor aforty-five-dayextensiorof its deadlineto
respondo Defendant’snotionfor summaryjudgmentwhich Defendantdid not opposePl.’s
Mot. for Extension offTime, ECFNo. 18. This Courtgrantedthe unopposed motiosgeMin.

Order(Apr. 12, 2019), an®laintiff filed heropposition orMay 28, 2018seePl.’s Opp’n.
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Now, Plaintiff contestghis supplemental producticaspartof heroppositionto
Defendant’smotionfor summaryudgment. Plaintiff did not bringanyfurther motionsseeking
discoverysanctionsor otherwisendicatingthat Defendanimproperlyconcealedhe documents
or thatthe supplemental productiamfairly prejudicedher. Although confusingly nastyledor
filed asaseparatenotionfor sanctions, theeartof Plaintiff's presentbjectionseemdo bethat
thelate document productioafterthecloseof discoverywasin violation of theCourt'sMay 5,
2018 Schedulin@rder,ECFNo. 9, suchthatthe Court shouldwardsanctiongursuanto its
authority undeFederalRulesof Civil Procedurd 6(f) and37(b),seePl.’s Opp’n 8-9. Plaintiff
characterizePefendant’date productionasa strategicnoveto “advantagets caseand
prejudicePlaintiff's caseby “prevent[ing][her] from seekingthe deposition of pertinent
witnesse®r seekingadditional discovery.”ld. at 10. As such,Defendant’suntimelylate
production Plaintiff arguescannot beexcusedunder Rule26(e)’sdutyto supplement.d. at9
(citing Shatsky vSyrianArab Republi¢ 312F.R.D.219, 225D.D.C. 2015)). She thuasserts
thatthe Court shoul@either strikefrom therecordor, alternatively,disregard” theéate-produced
material. Id. at 8.

Defendantetort thatPlaintiff’'s requestis both procedurally impropemdunwarranted
on themerits. First, Plaintiff failed to file anymotionfor sanctions pursuait FederalRule of
Civil Procedure 37(b)Def.’'s Reply24. Secondpefendanipoints outhatthereis noevidence
of badfaith or anabuseof thejudicial process, sucthatsanctionsarewarrantedto thecontrary,
Defendant’sncompleteinitial productionwasa“inadvertentoversight on theartof the
agency,’andDefendanttook immediatestepsto correcttheerror.” Id. at25. Moreover,
Defendanwasopento anextensiorof thebriefing schedule-whichit soughtasdescribed

above, ovePlaintiff's objection—and“informed Plaintiff priorto filing its Motion [for
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SummaryJudgmentihatit would not oppose a reasonaldguesto reopendiscoveryif
Plaintiff deemedt necessary.”ld. Defendanthus urges the Coutd denyPlaintiff's requesfor
discoverysanctions.As setforth below,Defendanhasthe betterargumentandthe Courwill
not imposeanydiscoverysanctionsaandwill consider thexhibitsthatwereproducedn
Defendant’'ssupplemental productido theextentthattheybearon theCourt'sanalysis

Here,thefactsdo notwarranttheimpositionof sanctions undegitherof thecitedrules.
Rule 37(b) authorizes a codetissuesanctionsfor not obeying a discoveiyrder.” Fed.R.
Civ. P.37(b)(2)(A). And Rule16(f) stateghat“the courtmayissueanyjustorders,including
those authorizelly Rule37(b)(2)(A)(ii)-(vii), if apartyor its attorney™fails to obey a
schedulingor otherpretrialorder.” Fed.R. Civ. P.16(f)(1)(C). But the instantasedoesnotfall
within the scope oéitherof theseprovisions. Underthelaw of this Circuit, “[a] production
orderis generallyneededo triggerRule 37(b).” Shepherd vAm Broad Cos.,Inc., 62 F.3d
1469, 1474D.C. Cir. 1995) (quotingAttorney General vThelrish People,Inc., 684 F.2d 928,
951 n. 129D.C. Cir.1982))(citing JamieS. Gorelick, StepherMarzen& LawrenceSolum,
Destructionof Evidence§ 3.4,at 74 & n 23 (1989 & Supp. 199%)flederal court decisions ...
unanimouslyagreethatsanctions pursuai Rule 37maynot beawardedabsenwiolation of a
courtorder”)). Therewasno production orderequiredin this caseasDefendannotes see
Def.’s Reply 25, suchthatRule 37(b)s nottriggered.

Nor do thefactsbeforethe Court support the conclusitratDefendantctedin badfaith
andintentionallyflouted theCourt’s schedulingorderby producing the documendsg thetime
thatit did, suchthata“just order” pursuanto Rule16(f) is in order. Plaintiff’'s argumentat
bottom,is thatshewasprejudicedoby theuntimely disclosure of document$I.’s Mot. 10. But

Plaintiff does noexplainhow, exactly,shewasprejudiced suchthatthe Court must interverte
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ensure thadministrationof justice. As explainedn thecaseonwhich Plaintiff primarily relies,
Shatsky“[a] litigant’s failure to abideby discovery deadlines prejudicialwhenit preventshe
opposing party fromtimelyreviewingrelevantevidence€ 312 F.R.Dat226(emphasisadded)
(citing Moore v Napolitanq 723F. Supp. 2d 167, 181-8P.D.C. 2010);Klayman v Judicial
Watch,Inc., 256 F.R.D. 258, 26¢D.D.C. 2009)). In this casePlaintiff’'s own actionsundermine
the contentiorthatshewaspreventedrom timely reviewingrelevantevidence.After rejecting
Defendant’anformal invitationsto extendtime and/orto reopendiscovery seeDef.’s Reply EX.
48, ECF No. 21-4Rlaintiff movedfor, andwasgrantedforty-five additionaldaysto “review the
threesupplementallocumeniproductionsto betterunderstand how th&gencyhasusedthemin

its motior],] and[to] incorporde theminto its Responséo the Agency’s Motiorfor Summary
Judgment,*® PI.’s Mot. for Extension offime 2. Accordingly, Plaintiff wasnotin fact
preventedrom timely reviewingrelevantevidence.Nor has Plaintiff convincingly argued that
she was prevented from deposing agency personnel about these documents beeadaatDef
offered to reopen discovery for this purpose and Plaintiff declined. Plaintiff did not take any
depositions in this case and it is, thus, unlikely that a handful of supplemental documents would
have changed the calculus.

In short,thereis no evidencehat Defendant’date productionwasanythingmorethanan
attemptto complywith its Rule 26(e) dutyo supplemenassoonasit realizedtheagency’s
“inadvertentoversight.” Def.’s Reply 25. Suchanoversightmaynotbeideal, yetit does not
automaticallysignalintentionalconcealmenuntil theeleventhhouraspart of adeliberate

strategyto disregardhe Court’sschedulingorderandprejudicePlaintiff. Thefactshereare

10 This motion references a supplemental production of three additional documents on
March 16, 2019. Pl.’s Mot. for Extension of Time 1. Plaintiff's opposition only discusses two
supplemental productions, as summarized above.
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distinctfrom casesn which partiesfailed to respondo discoveryrequeststall or more
flagrantlydisrespectediscovery deadlinesSee e.g., Unique Industriesinc. v. 965207Alberta
Ltd., 764F. Supp. 2d 191, 20@D.D.C. 2011)(counsel’'sdelayin productionsuggestedhck of
diligencein investigatingssues)Perezv. Berhany 583F. Supp. 2d 87, 9(D.D.C. 2008)(party
failed to respondo motionfor sanctions oto appeaiat statushearing). If anything,Defendant’s
emailsare evidencef goodfaith: Defendantvaswilling to work with Plaintiff to ensurehatshe
wasnotprejudicedby thesesupplemental productionandDefendanpromptlynotified the
Court ofthis developmenin its motionfor anextensiorof time. SeeDef.’s Mot. for Extension
of Time 1. Moreover, théactthatPlaintiff wasableto file a responsive motiowithin theforty-
five-dayextensioranddid notseekto reopendiscoverysuggestshatthe production did not
undulydelaythelitigation. Thus, the Counvill notexercisdts authorityto ordersanctionsor
excludefrom therecordany documentsssociateavith the supplemental production.
B. Claims Arising from 2014EEO Complaint
1. 2014RetaliationClaim

Ms. Newell's complaint includesllegationghat Defendantetaliatorilydemotecherin
2014aftershebegarto complainaboutherdisparatdreatment!! Compl. 1;seealsoid. { 19
(“After numerousomplaintsby Newell, insteadof stopping thgillegal] behaviorsNewell
allegesthatshewasdemotedo remove hefrom the positiorthattriggeredthe most opposition
from theWhite malesin herdepartmenandthepositionthatallowedherto witnessthesexual
behavior olhermanagers.”).Defendant contendbatPlaintiff’s failure to assertetaliationin

herfirst administrativecomplaintprecludeserfrom bringingthis claimin the instantase.

1 These allegations are distinct from allegations of retaliation associated with Paintif
2015 non-selection claim, which the Court discusses below.

21



Def.’s Mem. 1. Plaintiff does not provide directrejoinder. Onthe Court'sbestreadof her
argumentsn opposition Ms. Newell suggests-albeitin thecontextof the 2015 norselection
claim—thattheretaliationclaimis “sufficiently relatedto Ms. Newell’s otherallegationgo
warrantexhaustindherremedies.”Pl.’s Opp’n 32—-33.Ms. Newell alsoappeardo broadly
suggestagainin thecontextof the otherllegationsthat“any delayin filing shouldalsobe
waivedor tolled, particularly. . .[for parties]actingpro sg like [she]wasat thetime of [the]
first EEOcase.” Id. at 31-32(citing Bowden 106 F.3cat 438).

Evenwith a generouseadof Plaintiff's assertionsDefendanhasthebetterargument.
BecausdefendanticknowledgeshatPlaintiff exhaustedhe 2014discriminationadministrative
complaint,seeDef.’s Mem. 2, the operative questiasmwhethertheretaliationclaim pledin
Plaintiff's complaintmaybe broughtn associatiorwith thatadministrative complaintA
Plaintiff whofiles a suitin federaldistrict courtafteradministrativelyexhaustingn
administrative complairis “limited in scopeto claimsthatare‘like orreasonablyelatedto the
allegationsof the. . . [claim in the administrative complairgthdgrowingout ofsuch
allegations.” Park, 71 F.3dat 907 (quotingCheekv. Westernand Southermife Ins. Co., 31
F.3d 497, 50@7th Cir. 1994). In this suit, asDefendaniotes, th@administrativeclaims
acceptedy the agency fomvestigationn 2014 do noteferenceetaliation SeeDef.’s Mem. 1,
11; Def.’s Replyin Support oDef.’s Mot. Summ.J. (“Def.’'s Reply”) 3—-4,ECFNo. 21. The
first 2014filing addresseenly “[w]hether Complainanivassubjectedo disparatetreatment
basedonrace(African-American),sex(female),andage(over 40),”"ECFNo. 19-40(emphasis
added) andtheamendedtomplaint letteaddressesnly whetherMs. Newell was*subjectedo
sexualharassment and/or laostilework environmenbasedon race(Africa American)andsex

(female),”ECFNo. 1943 (emphasisdded). Thus,basedon theplain text of theformal
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administrative complaintt is clearthattheretaliationclaimis not“like” theallegationsn the
administrative complaint itself.

Nor is theretaliationadministrativeclaim “reasonablyelatedto theallegationsof the . . .
[complaintjandgrowing out ofsuchallegations’ Haynes 924 F.3dat 526 (quotingPark, 71
F.3dat907)1? The“like or reasonablyelated’standards not openended “[a]t aminimum,
theTitle VIl claimsmustarisefrom ‘the administrativenvestigationthatcanreasonablye
expectedo follow thechargeof discrimination.” Park, 71 F.3dat 907 (first quotingCheek 31
F.3dat 500,thenquotingChisholm vUnited States Postdbervice 665F.2d482, 491(4th Cir.
1981) (footnotemitted)) seealso Payne619F.3dat 65. This connectioris notmeantto
imposetechnicalformalitiesonTitle VII claimantsyather,it is “necessaryo give theagencyan
opportunityto resolvefthe] claim administrativelybefore[the employeefile[s] hercomplaintin
district court.” Haynes 924 F.3dat 526—-27 (quotingVileyv. Glassman511 F.3d 151, 160
(D.C.Cir. 2007)).

Here,theadministrative claimghattheagencyaccepteatenterentirely ondiscrimination
andhostilework environment/harassmetfieoriesof relief. Basedonsuchclaims, the
administrativanvestigationthattheagencyundertook canndtreasonablybe expected, Park,

71 F.3dat 907,to addresgheclaimsof retaliationthat Plaintiff nowraisesbeforethis Court.
Thisis not merely a formadtic point; to the contrarywhat aplaintiff must demonstrate to show

motivation or intent in eackind of case is entirely differentSee, a., Wiley v Glassman511

12n dicta inHaynes the Circuit declined to decide whether the “like or reasonably
related” doctrine enumeratedBark survived the Supreme Court’s rejection of the “continuing
violation” doctrine inNational Railroad Passenger Carp Morgan Haynes 924 F.3d at 527
n.1 (discussingMorgan 536 U.S. 101, 110-14 (2002)). Th&srkremains good law. Here, as
detailed below, Ms. Neweltannot even meet the standard set fortRank,” id. at 526 n.1;
accordingly, Plaintiff did not administratively exhaust her remedies agreeidpy this Circuit's
controlling law.
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F.3d 151, 155 (D.C. Cir. 20073téting that a prima facie case of discrimination requires a
plaintiff to show that(1) she is a member of a protected class; (2) she suffered an adverse
employment action; and (3) the unfavorable action gives rise to an inferenserohatiation’
whereas a prima facie case of retaliation requires a plaintiff to shoyl}skte engaged in a
statutorily protected activity; (2) she suffered a materially adversandyi her employer; and

(3) a causal connection existed between thé fimternal quotation marks and citations

omitted; Taylor v. Smal| 350 F.3d 1286, 1292 (D.C. Cir. 2008jnilarly distinguishing causes
of action); see alsdBurlington N & Santa Fe RyCo. v. Whitg 548 U.S. 53, 61, 67 (2006) (“The
language of . . . [Title VII's] substantive [discrimination] provision diffemirthat of the
antiretaliation provision.’)Morales v Gotbaum 42 F. Supp. 3d 175, 188 (D.D.C. 2014) (noting
that plaintiff's burden to defeat summary judgment differs in context of @dispaeatment and
retaliation claimrespectively. In particular, because a discrimination claim does not require a
plaintiff to show evidence of prior protected activity and a retaliation claira doerequire a
plaintiff to show evidence of race/gender animus, what is relevant in the tohtae kind of
claim may not be relevaim the other, and vice versa. Logically, then, an agency on the alert for
evidence relatednlyto a discrimination claim would not necessarily investigate for evidence
that could be related to a retaliation claifrhus,becausélaintiff’s first EEO complaintin 2014

did notpresentanyretaliationclaim, noris this claim reasonablyelatedto theclaimsthatwere
timely presentedherein,no reasonable finder &ct could conclude thails. Newell

administrativelyexhaustedherretaliationclaim.*®

13 As the Court noted previouslRefendant raised Plaintiff's failure to administratively
exhaust her claims as an affirmative defensepaodided specific argumentation to support its
argument that the retaliation claim is not connected to claims that were timely adminlgtrative
exhausted. These actions carry its burden to invoke such an affirmative d&eadgrown
777 F.2d at 12.
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Plaintiff's contentiorthatthe Court shoulevaive ortoll “any delayin filing” doesnot
alterthis conclusiont* Ms. Newell assertshatthe Court shoulsvaive or toll herdelaybecause
heremployers‘providedineffectivenoticeasto thelimitations period,”which waspatrticularly
harmfulbecausehewasproceedingro seat thetime of thefirst EEO complaint. Pl.’'s Opp’n
31-32. For the following reasons, this argument is unavailing.

“[T]he plaintiff bears the burden of showing that she is entitled to equitablegt6lli
Harris v. Gonzales488 F.3d 442, 444 (D.C. Cir. 2007) (citinigrris v. Att'y Gen of the United
States400 F. Supp. 2d 24, 26 (D.D.C. 20054 litigant “is entitled to equitable tolling only if
[s]he shows (1) that [s]he has been pursuing [her] rights diligently, and (2) theat som
extraordinary circumstance stood in [her] way and preveirteady filing.” Dysonv. District of
Columbia., 710 F.3d 415, 42(D.C. Cir. 2013) (quotingHolland v. Florida, 560U.S. 631
(2010); see also Briggs.\Hayden No. 18-5081, 2019 WL 2563218 (quotiRgcev.

DiGuglielmg 544U.S.408, 418 (2005))Courts have granted equitable tolling in cases where,
for instance, @ro separty made “diligent but technically defective efforts to act within a
limitations period” where one party was “misled about the running of a limitations period,” or a
“complainanf] neither knew nor had reason to know about the linBoivden 106 F.3cat438
(internal citations omitted). Such equitable tolling is proper only whesgitedl due
diligence,aplaintiff is unableto discoveressentiainformationbearingon theexistenceof [her]
claim.” Sierral, 254 F. Supp. 3d 230, 241 (D.D.C. 20{&nphasis in original)gloting

Pachecov. Rice 966F.2d 904, 906—075th Cir. 1992).

14 plaintiff does not assert a specific theory of waiver, such as the argumiettteth
agency waived its non-exhaustion defenSeeSierral, 254 F. Supp. 3dt 240 (analyzing why
agency did not waive defense of untimely exhaustion). Because, as the Court hasdjiscuss
Defendant timely asserted the affirmative defense of administrativexi@ustion, the Court
considers only equitable tolling here.
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Here, Ms. Newell has not carried her burden to establish that equitable ®lling i
warranted. As discussed previously, and as Defendant point$taintiff never
administratively filed her retaliation claim and raises this allegation for the first tifoeelibe
Court,seeDef.’s Reply 4, more than three years after the contested events occTitreg.
Bowden Plaintiff's sole argument is that her employersmt provide effective notice
concerning the limitations period. Pl.’s Opp’n 31-32 (citing 106 F.3d gt 438. Newellrelies
on thefactthat she“repeatedlycomplainedof theharassment,yet none ofher“supervisors
instructedher] of herrightto complainto EEO.” Id. at 32. But “[a]n agencys failureto give
notice does nagxcusetheuntimelinessof acomplaint,unless the absence of notice misled the
complainant about the time limit’s operatidnBowden 106 F.3cat 438 (emphasis addedit
no point doe®laintiff statethat shewasmisledby theabsencef notice or explain how her
employer’s ineffective noticeisled her about the controlling time limit and led her to omit her
retaliation claim from her administrative complaiitever does Ms. Newell explain how she
was sufficiently aware of the applicable time limits to submit a timely administrative claim of
discrimination, yet somehow the agency’s failure to give her notice caustxdreit her
retaliation claim from that very same complaifitius,the bareallegation that her supervisors
did not instruct her of her right to file an EEO complaint canastasnMs. Newell’'s argument.

The key question, then, wghetherMs. Newell has carried her burden to show that she
did not otherwise know or have readorknow about théimit. SeeHarris v. Gonzales488
F.3d 442, 444 (D.C. Cir. 2007) T]he agencymustgrantanextensiorof theforty-five-day
limit] if theemployeeshows that she ‘was not notified’ or ‘otherwise aware’ oftitine limit.”
(quoting 29 CDF § 1614.105(a)f2 She has not. On the evidence presented, at a minimum,

Ms. Newell had constructive notice of the statutory time limit. Plaintiff's declaratiers that
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she was aware of the agency’s dr@rassment and hostile work environment policy and had
“seen it on the board.” éeond Newell Decl. 11 656;see alsdef.’s Reply Ex. 45, Deposition
of Tracy R. Newell (“Newell Dep.”) 13435, ECF No. 21t (expressing familiarity with
agency’s antharassment and hostile work environment policies). In addition, Ms. Newell states
under oath that, each year, she completed online classes that informed her ofritlyts &eO
policy, the anti-harassment and hostile work environment policy.” Newell Dep. 80:6-8. As a
supervisory official, moreover, in an agency whose policy made “[m]anagers amdisonse. . .
responsible for following up on [harassment] complaints,” Pl.’s Opp’n Ex. 11,Har&gssment
Policy Statement, ECF No. 19-13, Ms. Newell would have needed to be well-versed in the
relevant policy requirements. Thus, Plaintiff has not provided any reason to concludhe that s
lacked constructive notice of the relevant time limits. Accordingly, sheaiiad fo provide any
basis that would entitle her to equitable tolling of the tmaered claims foretaliation.

All told, then, Ms. Newell provides no further justification that can carry her burden to
establishthe sort of &xtraordinary and carefully circumscribed circumstandedartis, 488 F.3d
at 444 (quotingSmitk-Haynie v District of Columbia, 155 F.3d 575, 580 (D.C. Cir. 1998), that
warrant equitable tollingThus, becawesPlaintiff has failed to support her plea for the Court to
exercise its equitable discretion regarding her retaliation ckameh because no reasonable finder
of fact could conclude that Plaintiff administratively exhausted this claim, shaobaaise it
for the first time before the Court.

2. 2014DiscriminationClaim

Ms. Newell allegesthat shewasdiscriminatedagainstbasedon raceandsexwhenshe

wasreassignedrom hertemporarysupervisorycapacityto her prior PlatePrinterpositionin

March2014. Plaintiff presentshis reassignmendsadiscriminatorydemotion. Ms. Newell
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maintainsthat her positionbecamegyermanentvhenshewasnotremovedrom the Assistant
PlatePrinterSupervisor positioaftertheexpirationof the oneyearNTE termin September
2013,in keepingwith the“commonpracticeof thedepartmento convertNTE-1-yearpositions
to permanenpositions withoufurthernotice orcompetitionandwithoutanyfurtherHR
actions.” Complf111-12;seealsoPl.’s SMF 5-6. Thereafterwhile actingin a supervisory
capacity Ms. Newell allegesthat“the White malesin herdepartmenbecamencreasingly
malicious,hostile[,] andintimidating” andthat shewas*“frequentlysubjectedo ahostilework
environmentaswell as“frequentpervasive’incidents ofsexualharassmentyhich shereported
to hersupervisorgo noavail. Id. 1113-18. After she“availed herselfof the[BEP’S] EEO
proces$ with multiple complaintsaboutthis inappropriate conduckls. Newell contendghat
hersupervisorglemotecherto PlatePrinterin orderto “removeherfrom the positiorthat
triggeredthe most oppositiofrom theWhite malesin herdepartmenandthe positiorthat
allowedherto witnessthe sexualbehavior of hemanagers.”Id. T 19.
DefendandescribedMs. Newell's 2014reassignmentatherdifferently, arguingthatit
wasa decision controllely HR’s construal of governing regulations. PISMF 6—7.
Specifically,afterathreemonthextensiorof the oneyearNTE termby oneHR supervisorMr.
Zunker,in SeptembeR013,id. at 5, thenewHR supervisorMs. Mendozadeniedanyfurther
extensioron the groundghat“the applicableregulationsn 5 C.F.C.Part335 did nopermit
BEPto extendthe[] temporarypromotions”becausehe originalvacancyannouncement
explicitly statedthatthe positionvasatemporarypromotionNTE oneyear,id. at6. ThusMs.
Newellwasreassignedo thePlatePrintersupervisor positiothatshehadheld prior to her
temporarysupervisory positionld. Defendanemphasizethatseveralotheremployeesvere

alsoreturnedo their positions around theametime or shortlythereaftermsaresultof Ms.
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Mendoza’'snterpretationof the operative regulationsd. Defendanspecificallypointsto the
factthatMr. Gibel, who wastemporarilypromotedo thesamePlatePrinterAssistantPositionat
thesametime asMs. Newell, wasalsoreturnedo his prior postsActing AssistantSupervisor
onMarch31, 2014.1d. at6-7.

Plaintiff rebuffsthis HR-basedexplanatioraspretextual. Sheraiseswo specificpoints.
First, givenherown experiencevith agency promotiopracticesandthefactthatshereceiveda
raiseandnotificationof a oneyearprobationaryperiodin January2014,Ms. Newell maintains
thatshewasin fact permanentlypromotedat thattime—only to be subsequentiygemotedon
discriminatorygroundshecausér. Smith“capitulatedto [the] sexistandracistenvironment.”
Pl.’s Opp’n 19-20.SecondPlaintiff distinguishesercasefrom the otheemployeesvho were
“returnedbackto their positions”’becauseshewasthe onlyemployeevhosereassignment
entaileda demotionn status. Plaintiff notesthattwo of the other individualdylr. Donovan
Elliot andMr. Smith,“were laterally selectedrom supervisory position fill another
supervisory position.’Pl.’s Opp’n 20. Shalsorejectsthe comparisoto Mr. Gibel becauséie
wasstill permittedto performin a supervisorgapacityafterthereassignmengiven his statusas
“Acting AssistantPlatePrinterSupervisor.”ld. at 21. Plaintiff thuspresseshattheexplanation
providedis pretextualkcoverfor the truth: shevasthe onlyemployeevho wasdiscriminatorily
demoted.

Title VIl barsintentionaldiscrimination,or “disparatetreatment.” 42U.S.C.82000e-
16(a). An employeébringingsuchaclaim for relief “seeksto provethatanemployer
intentionally‘treatssome peopléessfavorablythan otherbecaus®f theirrace. . .[or] sex.”
Figueroa v Pompep923 F.3d 1078, 108®.C. Cir. 2019) (quotindgsegar vSmith 738 F.2d

1249, 1265D.C. Cir. 1984));seealsoInt’| Bhd of Teamstery. United States431U.S. 324,
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335 n.15 (1977) Theplaintiff-employeé‘at all times” carries‘the burden of provingthat the
defendantntentionallydiscriminatedagainst’her. Figuerog 923 F.3dat 1086 (quotingsegar
738 F.2dat 1265);seealso TexasDep't of Cmty Affairs v. Burding 450U.S.248, 253 (1981).
In acasesuchasthis, wherethereis only indirectevidenceof intentionaldiscrimination the
claimantmayrely on theMcDonnell Douglaghreestepmethod ofproof. Figuerog 923 F.3d at
1086(citing Wheelen. Georgetowrniv. Hosp, 812 F.3d 1109, 111®.C. Cir. 2016) see also
TransWorld Airlines, Inc. v. Thurston 469U.S.111, 121 (1985)) Thefirst stepof this test
requirestheemployeeo establisha primafacie case whereuponat steptwo, “the burdenthen
shiftsto theemployerto articulatealegitimate,nondiscriminatoryeasorfor its action.”

Wheeler 812 F.3dat 1113-14.Wheretheemployersatisfieshis burden of production, the
“burdenthenshiftsback’ to theemployeewho must provehat, despite th¢gemployer’s]
profferedreasonshehasbeenthevictim of intentionaldiscrimination.” Figueroa 923 F.3cht
1086 (quotingNheeley 812 F.3cat 1114). This Circuit hasemphasizedhat,at thesummary
judgmentstage thedistrict courtis generallyexpectedo focus on pronghreeandto avoid

gettingcaughtupin “largely unnecessargideshow|s]'aboutwhatconstitutesa primafacie
case.” Id. (quoting,thenciting, Brady v Office of Sergeant aArms 520F.3d490, 494(D.C.
Cir. 2008)). But a court should not constrtieis emphasin pronghreeasareasorto elidea
serious inquiryat prongtwo. Id. at 1087(*Bradydoes nopretermitseriousdeliberationat the
secondprong.”).

A courtevaluaing whethertheemployerhassatisfactorilyarticulateda “legitimate,
nondiscriminatoryeasorfor its action” at prongtwo, Wheeley 812 F.3cat 1114,is to consider

numeroudactors. This Circuit recentlyemphasizedour factorsexpectedto be paramounit

theanalysisfor mostcases.”Figuerog 923 F.3cdat 1087. First, theemployermust produce
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evidencehatwould beadmissibleattrial for afinder of fact. 1d. (citing Segar vSmith 738 F.2d
1249, 1268 (D.C. Cir. 198%1) Second;the factfinder,if it ‘believed’ theevidencemust
reasonablypeableto find that‘the employer’'sactionwasmotivatedby’ a nondiscriminatory
reason.” Id. (quotingTeneyckr. Omni ShorehanHotel, 365 F.3d 1139, 115D.C. Cir. 2004)
(citationsomitted). Third, this nondiscriminatoryexplanatiormust be‘facially ‘credible’ in
light of theprofferedevidence.” Id. at 1088 (quotingBishopp vDistrict of Columbia 788 F.2d
781, 788—-89D.C. Cir. 1986)). Finally, the evidenc@resenteanust provide &clearand
reasonablgpecificexplanation'thatis “articulatedwith somespecificity.” Id. (first quoting
Segar 738 F.2dat 1269 n.13thenquotingLoebv. Textron,Inc., 600 F.2d 1003, 101@stCir.
1979))(citationsomitted) Only if the defendanemployersatisfiestheseelementsat steptwo is
the courtto moveto stepthreeandassessvhethertheplaintiff-employeehascarriedherburden
to showthatthis profferedexplanatioris pretextual Applying theseprinciples this Courtnext
assessewhetherDefendanthasmetits burdento articulatealegitimate,nondiscriminatory
reasorfor Ms. Newell's reassignmerit March20141°
Here,assummarizegreviously,Defendantissertshatthe March 2014reassignment
wasnot adiscriminatorydecisionby Plaintiff’'s supervisors, butathera steptakento enforcethe
humanresourcalepartment’sonstrual of theontrollingfederalregulations.To supportts
argumentPDefendanbffersseveralsources oévidencejncludingtwo thataremostdirectly on
point: declarationgrom theHR supervisowho madethis decisionMs. Mendoza. SeeDefs.

ExhibitsEx. 9, November 13, 201Beclarationof PatriciaMendoza“MendozaDecl.”), ECF

15Based on the plain text of the accepted administrative complaint and the fact that
Defendant does natt any point allege that Plaintiff has failed to make qutima faciecase, the
Court assumearguendathat Ms. Newell has done so and proceeds to step two bfdBennell
Douglasframework.
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No. 17-19;id. atEx. 10,March 12, 2019Declarationof PatriciaMendoza*“SecondMendoza
Decl.”), ECFNo. 17-10. In thesedeclarationsMs. Mendoza corroborates the nondiscriminatory
reasorthatDefendaniprovidesfor its action,statingthatMs. Newell's threemonthextension
from SeptembeR3, 20130 March2014wasanerrorandthat,“[ijn [her] view, permittinga
subsequertemporaryextensiorof theadvertisechotto-exceedterm governingPlaintiff's
temporarypromotionasa PlatePrinterAssistantSupervisor would havieeencontraryto the
applicablefederalregulationsandthe jobvacancyannaincemengoverningPlaintiff's
temporarypromotion.” SecondviendozaDecl. § 12;seealsoMendozaDecl. 19-13. Ms.
Mendozareiterateghis sameaccounin herdepositionseeid. at Ex. 14, Deposition oPatricia
Mendoza (“Mendoza Dep.”) 20:6-10, 21:9-ECFNo. 17-15,andtheswornstatement®f Mr.
Smith corroborate theameexplanationseeid. at Ex. 7, Octoberl7, 2014Declarationof Robert
Smith (“Smith Decl.”)  10,ECFNo. 17-7;SecondSmith Decl. §5-6; Third Smith Decl. 74—
10. In addition,Ms. Mendoza providetirtherevidencehat,if believed,sustaindDefendant’s
nondiscriminatoryationalefor its behavior. Her declaratiordiscusse detail how sheapplied
governing regulation® otheremployeesn thesameway andsimilarly advisedreturningall
other individualsn temporaryNTE positionsto their prior posts upon thexpirationof their
NTE terms. SeeSecond MendozBecl. 1115-16.

With this showing, Defendaritasofferedarelatively specificlegitimateexplanatiorfor
its actionsandbackedt upwith admissiblesvidencehatrendergheneutralexplanatiorfacially
credible permittingafactfinderwho believest to find thattherewasa nondiscriminatoryeason
for BEP’sreassignmendf Ms. Newell. Thus, Defendartassatisfiedits burden of productioat

steptwo of theMcDonnell Douglagramework and the Counproceedsextto thefinal step.
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To reiterate at stepthreeof theMcDonnellDouglasanalysis,a courtis to assessvhether
the plaintiff-employeehasprovided evidencthatdischargeser burderio “provethat, despite
the[employer’s]profferedreasonshehasbeenthevictim of intentionaldiscrimination.”
Figuerog 923 F.3cat 1086 (quotingVheeler vGeorgetown UnivHosp, 812 F.3d 1109, 1114
(D.C. Cir. 2016). Here,Ms. Newell'sfirst arguments thatshewasin fact promotedandmade
permanenby January2014, onlyto bediscriminatorilydemotedn March2014. She provides
four sources oévidencen support othis claim: herown sworntestimonyconcerningoast
agencypracticescommentson anotification of personnehction(*SF50") form thatshe
received;theomissionof hernameon alist of temporaryNTE employeesandaline in the
declaratiorfrom herdirectsupervisoat thetime of hertemporaryposting,Ms. Simmons:®

The problem,however s thattheseitemsdo not provide enougkvidenceto allow atrier
of factto concludethatthe profferedexplanations pretextual First, althoughPlaintiff aversthat
it was“commonpractice”for a “positionto automaticallypecome permanenéftera oneyear
probationary period?l.’s SMF 7 (citing Pl.’s Resp Def.’s First Setof Interrogatorie§ 4), she
does not providanyotherextrinsicsupportfor this claim. Evengranting the non-movant the

generougonstruakhatsheis dueat the summaryjudgmentstage this bareallegationis not

18 1n her complaint, Plaintiff also contests Ms. Mendozaasiref the vacancy
announcement itselfSeeCompl. 1 10 (quoting vacancy posting’s statement that the “temporary
position may benade permanent without further competitiggmphasis omitted)). She asserts
therein that this announcement in no way required her demotion after onédye&ut Ms.
Newelldoes not develop this argument in her oppositionagmearsat other pointso recognize
the discretionary nature of this languageePl.’s SMF 3 Moreover, as discussed belshge
does not provide any further evidence to support her allegation that it was thgagenumon
practice to make such positions permanent after one srause of these combined factors,
the Court does not consider the vacancy announcement itself to be another source adigvidenti
support for Plaintiff's claim.

33



sufficientto supportPlaintiff's contentions.SeeGreene 164 F.3cat 675 Etatingthatconclusory
assertionshatlack evidentiarysupport cannagstablisha genuinessuefor trial).

Nor do theSF50 form and thdisting of employeegrovide enough evidente suggest
thatthereassignmenwaspretextfor discrimination. The SF50 form in questiondatedJanuary
12, 2014js labeledasa“correction” andcontaingwo comments.Pl.’s Opp’nEx. 17,ECF No.
19-19. First, it stateghatthereis ageneralpayadjustment “du¢o applicationof FWSarea
increas€.!’ Id. Theamount othis payincreasevasfifty -ninecentsper hour!® Secondit
contains theatherinscrutablecomment “Correctsitem [] 45 from subjectto completionof 1
yearprobationary periofbr assignmento supervisoryor manageriaposition beginningubject
to completionof 1year. Probationary periotbr assignmento supervisory omanagerial
position beginning.”ld. Thesecommentsverenotpresenion theSF50 form thatPlaintiff had
previouslyreceivedduring heriime asatemporarysupervisorid. atEx. 16, ECFNo. 19-18,and
thereis no priorSF50 form thatreferencesnyprobationary periodMs. Mendozaepresents
thesecommentsaserroneously printedndprovides naxplanatiorfor why or how theerror
occurred SeeMendozaDecl. | 12,MendozaDep.20:4-14. Asimilar situationholdsfor achart

thatPlaintiff present@asanagencypreparedist of employeesn positionsNTE 12 months

17 The Court takes judicial notice that “FWS” stands for “Federal Work Systedh” a
refers to “a uniform pagetting system that covers Federal appropriated fund and
nonappropriated fund blussllar empoyees who are paid by the hour.” Office of Personnel
ManagementPay & Leave Federal Wage System Overvidwitps://www.opm.gov/policylata
oversight/payleave/paysystems/federalvagesystem/(last visited Nov. 2, 2019).

18 The Court calculates thisreount by subtracting the total salary/award of $58.85 listed
in the September 23, 2013 SF-50, Pl.’'s Opp’n Ex. 16, ECF No. 19-18, from the total
salary/award of $59.44 provided on the January 12, 2014 S&-280Ex. 17. Neither party
provides any SF-50 forms dated between September 23, 2013 (the original date tbexgiira
the NTE position) and January 12, 2014.
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betweer2010and20181° PI.’s Opp’'nEx. 102,ECFNo. 19-104. Ms. Newell contendghather
omissionfrom this list demonstratethat shewasin fact madepermanenprior to March 2014,
suchthatherreassignmenwasadiscriminatorydemotion. Pl.’'s SMF 3. Defendantdoes not
explainthis omissionin its filings or makeanymentionof this documengtall. But even
without understanding/hy theseerrois occurred, theommentson theSF50 form andthe
omissionof Plaintiff from alist of NTE employeesaresimply not enougtio allow areasonable
trier of factto find thatMs. Newell’s positionwasin fact convertedo apermanenbne—et
alonethatshewassubsequentlgiscriminatorilydemoted.With regardto this evidenceas
Defendannotes Plaintiff makesno connectiorat all betweerthematerialprovidedandthe
allegationthatMr. Smith,who servedashersecondevel supervisomat thetime of the
reassignmentgcapitulatedto [a] racistandsexistenvironment’andthereforediscriminatorily
demotedVis. Newell. SeeDef.’s Reply29 (quotingPl.’s Opp’n 20). Without linking the
evidenceprofferedto herclaim, Ms. Newell’s allegationsof discriminationremain
unsubstantiated. Thuthis showing does naufficeto carryPlaintiff’'s burdento “producd]
sufficientevidencdor areasonablgury to find thattheemployer’sassertechon-discriminatory
reasorwasnot theactualreasorandthattheemployerintentionallydiscriminatedagainstthe
plaintiff.” Thomas vSecuriguardnc., No. 18-0125ABJ), 2019WL 4860947at*9 (D.D.C.
Sept.30, 2019.

Finally, Plaintiff suggestshataline in a supervisor'sieclaratiorrevealsthe pretextual
nature ofDefendant’sexplanation.Specifically,Ms. Newell pointsto Ms. Simmons’sstatement

that,“[o]n MondayMarch 24, 2014my supervisor Robe®mithcalledmeandtold methatMrs.

19 This document is not authenticated or labeled with any official agency indiicits
analysis, the Court assumaguendathat it isin fact a document prepared by the agency that
would be admissible at trial.
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Newell's temporarypositionhadbeenextended,” whereupads. SimmonsinformedMs.
Newell of this extension.SimmonsDecl.  11. However,Defendantebutsthis argumentvith
anemailfrom Mr. Smithto Ms. SimmonsdatedMarch 20, 2014 statingthathewas*informed
th[at] morningthatthe Temporarypositionsfor TracyNewell andRichardGibel w[ould] not be
extendedasAssistantSupervisors,thattheywould be“requiredto reportfor dutyasaPlate
printer on Monay 3/24/14,”anddirectingMs. Simmonsto conveythis informationto Ms.
NewellandMr. Gibelthatevening. Def.’s Exhibits Ex. 12-B,March 20, 2014Smith Email,
ECFNo. 17-11. Mr. Smith’sown declarationis consistentvith thistimeline. Id. atEx. 12,
Third SmithDecl. 116-10. Plaintiff does noaddresshis email or offer any otherdirectly
conflicting accountsof the nondiscriminatoryexplanatiorthat Defendanfproffers. Nor, as
Defendant notes, does Ms. Newell point to any evidensadgest that anyone other than HR
was in fact given authority to grant or deny management’s extensiontre§eebef.’s Reply
19-20. Accordingly, this single line in a declaratistandingalone,is not enougto carryMs.
Newell's burden of proofo suggespretext.

Plaintiff's secondarguments alsounavailingbecausdt is similarly unsubstantiatedy
the evidence¢hatshe presentsMs. Newell contendshat shewastreateddifferently from a
maleg CaucasiaemployeeMr. Gibel,who wasin thesameNTE positionasherat thetime of

herreassignmerandwho wasalsoreassignedt approximateljthesametime.2° Plaintiff

20 As mentioned previously, three employees apart from Ms. Newell werégresasat
around the same time as Plainti8eePl.’s SMF 9. Defendant avers that all these indiaisu
were in temporary positions at the time of the reassignment and that the rectassihiceurred
based on the same determination by Ms. Mendoza that was applied to PlSewiff} see also
Mendoza Decl. 1 16. Plaintiff disputes that two of the individuals were in NTE positithres a
time of their reassignment. Pl.’s SMF 9. Plaintiff's factual allegation relieseoagency
prepared list of employees in positions NTE twelve months between 2010 and 2018, discussed
above. See id(citing Pl.’sOpp’n Ex. 102). Because the Court is to take the evidence presented
by the non-movant-here, PlaintifF—as true and construe ambiguities in her favor, the Court

36



objectsto thefactthatshewasreassignedo thepositionof PlatePrinter,whereadMr. Gibelwas
reassignedo the position ofActing AssistantSupervisorywhich allowedhim to “perform those
samedutiesin theoffice afterhewasreturnedo his former position (but onlyn anacting
capacity)” Pl.’'s SMF 9; seealsoPl.’s Opp’n 20. However,Ms. Newell does not providany
evidenceahatshewasin facttreateddifferently from Mr. Gibel. To thecontrary,on thematerial
in therecord,it appearghatbothemployeesveretreatedsimilarly in thattheywereeach
reassignedo the positiorthattheyheld before theéemporarypromotion:Ms. Newell was
reassignedo her previoushheld position,PlatePrinter,andMr. Gibelwasreassignedo his
previouslyheld position,Acting AssistantSupervisor. Thug?laintiff does notarryherburden
to provide evidencéhatwould allow a reasonable finder &dictto concludethatDefendant’s
profferedexplanatiorfor reassignindneris pretextual.

In short,then,becausdlaintiff hasnot supportedherallegationsof discriminationwith
specific*evidence'from which a jury couldfind thattheemployer’'sstatedreasonsvere
pretextual’ Hairston v Vance-Cooks773 F.3d 266, 27¢D.C. Cir. 2014) (quotingseorge v
Leavitt,407 F.3d 405, 41@.C. Cir. 2005)(internalalterationsomitted), shehasnotmadea

sufficientshowingto survivesummaryjudgment orthis claim.

accepts Plaintiff's claim that two of the three reassigned individdslis Smith and Mr.
Elliott—werenotin temporary, NTE positions at the time of their reassignnsesetjd at 8-9,
and therefore assesses only Mr. Gibel's reassignment here.

In addition, Plaintiff does not dispute the fact that several other individuals whodecam
permanent Plate Printer Assistant Supervisors applied to and were selatteddancy
announcements, rather than receiving this post after the temporary position wateddovar
permanent positionSee idat 10. Thus, the Court does not consider such individuals to be
relevant points of comparison in assessing whether Plaintiff was discriniindtanoted from a
permanent supervisory post to a lowarying c@acity in the manner that she alleges.
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3. 2014HostileWork EnvironmentClaim

Ms. Newell alsoraisesharassmergndhostilework environmentlaims As discussed
previously theseclaimswereincludedin her2014EEO complaintandformally acceptedy the
agency.SeeEEO AmendedAcceptancd.etter. Defendanargueghat, notwithstandingheir
inclusian in Ms. Newell’'samende®014EEO complaint,the incidents oharassmenhat
underliethis claim aretime-barred. Def.’'s Mem. 11 (“[T]he 45-daytime limit in which Plaintiff
wasrequiredto contactan EEO counselobarsmost of thediscreteactsof harassmerand/or
hostilework environmentlleged.”);see alsdef.’'s Reply5. Morespecifically,because
Plaintiff's first contactwith anEEO counselooccurredon May 2, 2014 Pl.’'s SMF 36,
DefendantssertghatTitle VII precludes heirom holding theagency'liable for anydiscrete
actsof harassmentr hostilework environmenthatoccurredprior to March 18, 2014 whichis
45 daysbeforesheinitiated contactwith an EEO counselor.” Def.’s Mem. 12. Defendant
furtherargueghat,evenif one of theactsdid in fact occurwithin thestatutoryfiling period, the
time-barredandnontime-barredincidents canndiqualify as‘part of thesameactionablehostile
work environmentlaim™ becausgheyarenot“adequatelylinked.” Id. at 13 (quotingBaird v.
Gotbaum 662 F.3d 1246, 1251 (D.C. Cir. 20L1PpefendantontendghatPlaintiff cannot
“show thatthesingleincident involvingWheelockthatoccurredn May 2014was‘adequately
linked’ andso‘similar in nature to the othemllegedincidentsthatthecollectiveincidents
“form asingle,continuoughostilework environmentlaim.” Id. (QuotingBaird, 662 F.3dat
1251). ThuspPefendanmaintaingthatthis overallclaimfor relief is time-barred.

Ms. Newell respondsn oppositionthat Defendanhasnot metits burdento establishthat

theseclaimswerenottimely exhausted Pl.’s Opp’n 29. Plaintiff makesthreearguments
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regardingthetimelinessof herhostilework environmentlaim.?! First, she invokesMorganfor
the propositiorthat“a courtdeterminingwhethera hostilework environmengexistsmaylook to
conductthatoccurredoutsideTitle VII's limitations period”solongas“an actcontributingto
theclaim occurswithin thefiling period.” Pl.’s Opp’n 30 (quoting 538&).S.at117). Applyng
thisrule, Ms. Newell contendghather“harassmentlaimsarereasonablyelatedto the
discriminatorydemotionwhichis undisputedastimely filed,” id., which makesall the
associatethostilework environmentindharassmentlaimstimely filed. Second, shehallenges
Defendant'scharacterizatiof herharassmentlaimsas“discreteacts,”presentingall the
claimsaspartof ahostilework environment theory aklief. Id. at31. Finally, sheagainargues
thatthe Court shouldvaive or toll anydelayin filing theseclaimsdueto theagency’s
“ineffective noticeasto thelimitations period.” 1d. (citing Bowden 106F.3dat 438).

Plaintiff's argument@areunavailing. Ms. Newell’'s argumenthatthehostilework
environmentlaim is connectedo thetimely-filed 2014discriminationclaim for her
reassignmeriacksevidentiary supportThis contentiorrestson Ms. Newell’s allegationthat*“it
washerpromotionto a supervisory positiotihatprompted thevhite[] malesin heroffice to
blatantlyharassher because dfergenderandrace.” Pl.’s Opp’n 30-31(citing Pl.’'s Resp.
Def.’s First Setof Interrogatorieq] 5. In support othis assertionPlaintiff’s filings include
swornstatementérom co-workerssuggesting thatertainmalePlatePrintersweredisrespectful
towardfemaleemployees.Seeeg., id. at Ex. 49, Declarationof DeirdreVeneyBatesNo.

00419,ECFNo. 19-51(“l think all thefemalesin PlatePrintinghavebeentreated

1 Because Ms. Newell states that her harassment claims are not discrete actsault ins
“constitute non-discrete acts constituting a hostile work environment,” Pl.’'s Opp’n 31, the
Court’s analysis refers to Plaintiff's “hostile work environment claim” idradsing this aspect
of the complaint.
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disrespectfullyfrom time to time basedontheir sexby some othe maleco-workers.”);id. at Ex.
50, Declarationof JeffreySwannBatesNo. 00406, ECFNo. 19-52 (suggestinthatPlaintiff had
beentreateddifferently “ever since she become a supervisoid);at Ex. 51, Declarationof
JameRiddick (“I believeMr. Dunn thinksthereis norole for womenin PlatePrintingasa
printer or supervisor.”) Missingentirely,howeverjs anyevidentiarysupporthatconnectsany
suchdiscriminationby Plaintiff’'s subordinatego theallegationthatthe 2014eassignment
reflectsdiscriminatoryeffortsby managementAlthough theCourt’'sanalysisof the pending
motionfor summaryjudgment must constrwal underlyingfactsandinferencesn thelight most
favorableto the non-movant, “conclusomssertion®fferedwithoutanyevidentiarysupport do
not establisha genuinassuefor trial.” Sierrav. Hayden(“Sierrall”), Civ. No. 16-1804(RC),
2019WL 3802937at*9 (D.D.C.Aug. 13, 2019)(first citing Anderson477U.S.at 255,then
citing Greene 164 F.3cat 675);seealsoRalls Corp. v. Comm on Foreign Invin United States
758 F.3d 296, 31fD.C. Cir. 2014)(statingthatthe court does “noacceptastrue. . . the
plaintiff's legal conclusions omferencegshatareunsupportedy thefactsalleged”) Thebare
conclusoryassertiorthatthe harassmerandhostilework environmentlaimsarerelatedto the
timely-filed discriminationclaimis not enough. WithounoreconcreteevidencehatMs.
Newell fails to provide, shdnasnotestablishedhat thehostilework environmentlaimis in fact
connectedo thetimely-filed discriminationclaim—a linkagethatwould establishperMorgan
thatanytime-barredeventscanbe consideredspartof thehostilework environment theory.
Seeb36 U.Sat1l7.

Nor, as the Court discusses bel@manPlaintiff's factual allegationghndependently
support éhostilework environmentlaim basedon eithersexor race untetheredrom the

timely-filed claim of discriminationconcerningher 2014eassignment The Courtwill next
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asses®laintiff’'s sexual harassment and sbasedclaim and therseparately consider her
allegationsof racial discrimination
a. Allegations oHostile Work EnvironmenBasedon Sex/Gender

Ms. Newell’s allegations of sexual harassment and/or a discriminatory hostie w
environment based on sex derives from several events centered in early 2014. @he relev
events are: (1) the February 11, 2014, conversation with subordinate Peter Steormagn invit
Ms. Newell to go to a strip club and to sexually engage with another femaleyesske
Second Newell Decl.; (2) ongoing incidents, increasing in frequency in February 2@réjrw
male employees would request “sexual favors under the guise of huth@r35, and at least
one male employee “referred to [her] as ‘Baby’ and ‘Honey’” and anothertiéalfher] on the
buttock,” Pl.’s Resp. Def.’s First Set of Interrogatories | 1; (3) ongoingaseehavior in the
workplace by two unnamed superiors, Second Newell Hi§®d06-61; (4) the February 21, 2014,
incident with Mr. Dunn wherein he became aggressive and called Ms. Newell an “igicdyics
Newell Decl. 9 (5) the March 27, 2014, meeting with Mr. Dunn and management to address his
prior conductNewell Decl. I 14and (6) the May 19, 2014, incident with Mr. Wheelock,
wherein he raised his voice at Ms. Newell, Pl.'s SMF RR&intiff contends that this treatment
“over a prolong[ed] period” at the hands of “mostly White male offenders and cowdrker
Compl. 9;see also idf 16, establishes a discriminatorily hostile work environmBefendant
raises two rebuttals. Firgts described previouslpefendant arguehat these claims are time
barred because only the May 19, 2014, incident with Mr. Wheelock occurred within dlaey 45-
mandatory reporting window. Def.’s Mem. 12. Second, Defendant argues that the tamevelc

harassment by her white, male cowaskaepresents “isolated incidents” that do not rise “to the
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level of ‘severe or pervasive’ conduct” required to establish an actehabtile work
environment.ld. at 35.

As set forth belowDefendant has the better argumefAtsumingarguendathat the
March 27, 2014, incident represents a timfdsd claim that can sweep in dlie other incidents,
these eventsonsidered in their totalitfail to rise to the level of severity or pervasiveness
necessary to make out a hostile work emwinent claim.

The hostile work environment theory of relief derives from the recognition flagtyén
the workplaces permeatedvith ‘discriminatoryintimidation,ridicule, andinsult’ thatis
‘sufficiently severeor pervasiveo alterthe conditions of theictim’s employmemandcreatean
abusive working environmentTitle VIl is violated.” Harris v. Forklift Sys, Inc., 510U.S.17,
21 (1993) (quotingveritor Sav Bank,FSBV. Vinson 477U.S.57, 65, 67 (1986)). To make out
a hostile work environment claim for relief, the allegedly discriminatory cdamdust not only
be subjectively perceived as abusive, but also be so ‘severe or pervasivectieatés] an
objectively hostile or abusive work environméehtSierra 1l, 2019 WL 3802937, at *12 (quoting
Casey vMabus 878 F. Supp. 2d 175, 188 (D.D.C. 2018pe alsdHarris, 510 U.S. at 21.
“[T]he ordinanytribulationsof the workplace,i[e.,] a seriesof pettyinsults,vindictive behavior,
andangryrecriminations. . . ae not actionable undéritle VII.” Brooks v Grundmann748
F.3d 1273, 1277-7@.C. Cir. 2014) (quotatiomnarksandcitationomitted) seealsoBaird v.
Gotbaum 792 F.3d 166, 171 (D.C. Cir. 2015) (describiogcasionahamecalling, rudeemails,
losttempersandworkplacedisagreementsds“the kind of conductourtsfrequentlydeem
uncognizable undéritle VII”). To assessvhetherconductrisesto acognizabldevel,acourtis
to consider theotality of thecircumstancedncluding “thefrequencyof the harassingonduct,

its severity,whetherit is physicallythreateningor humiliating,andwhetherit unreasonably
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interfereswith anemployee’svork performance.”Stewart vEvans 275 F.3d 1126, 1134-35
(D.C. Cir. 2002)citing Harris, 510U.S.at 21-23)

Here,theincidentsto which Plaintiff pointsarenotsevereor pervasiven themannerthat
Title VII demands$o make out &laimfor relief. Consider, first, the interactions with Mr. Dunn
and Mr. Wheelock, which consist of the February 21, 2014 incident with Mr. Dunn during which
Mr. Dunn became aggressive, yelled at Ms. Newell, and called her an idiot; the 2Ma014,
meeting with Mr. Dun, Ms. Newell, and supervising officials to address Mr. Dunn’s prior
conduct; and the May 19, 2014, incident in which Mr. Wheetadded his voice at Ms. Newell
on the printing floor. Although theecordindicateshatMr. DunnandMr. Wheelockboth
shoutedangrily at Plaintiff in anunprofessionaandinappropriatanannertherewasno physical
contactandthereis no evidencehatshewaseverin physicaldanger. This sort of erbal
altercationon a sporadic basis is not actionably sev&ee, a., Brooksv. Grundmann748
F.3d 1273, 1277-78 (D.C. Cir 201#utbursts anttactless and ilmannered” supervisors and
co-workersdid not create actionable hostile work environmeBe)| v. Gonzales398 F. Supp.
2d 78, 92 (D.D.C. 2005) (“[T]he sporadic use of abusive language also is insufficienbtslesta
a hostile work environment.”) (citin§tewart,275 F.3dat 1131, 1134-35)Singh v U.S House
of Representative800 F. Supp. 2d 48, 56 (D.D.C. 2004) (characterizing “loud expressions of
disapproval” as “the kinds of normal strains that can occur in any office se#mjnot as
creating an abusive hostile vikagnvironment). Furthermore, thi@rd incidentinvolving Mr.
Dunn’sallegedcommentat theMarch 2014meetingmayhaveembarrasseBlaintiff, butit is not
sohumiliatingthatareasonabléinder of fact would concludethatit is thesortof commenthat
“alter[s]the condition®f thevictim’s employment.”Harris, 510U.S.at21. Moreoverthese

threeincidents were scattered over four months (February to May 2014) and do not establish a

43



pattern of ongoing discriminatory behavior throughout Ms. Newell's employm@&iRthat is

SO pervasive as to create a hostile work environneather, they represt the sort of

occasional workplace “tribulation[s]” that fail to amount to an actionable bastitk

environment. In short, then, these allegations concerning Mr. Dunn and Mr. Wheelock are not

actionably severe and pervasive in the manner that Titlderhands?

22 Moreover, because Ms. Newell was not reassigned to her Plate Printer position unt
March 31, 2014seePl.’s SMF 7, she was Mr. Dunn’s supervisor at the time of both incidents
involving Mr. Dunn that Plaintiff raises in support of her hostile work environment claisn
this Court discussed ioyles v District of Columbia most hostile work environment claims
involve allegations of harassment by a supervisor, which are controlled byrttiardtaet forth
in Faraghe v. City of Boca Ratonb24 U.S 775 (1998), argurlington Indusinc. v. Ellerth,

524 U.S. 742 (1998), otlagations of harassment by awworker, which are governed by a
different standard set forth @urry v. District of Columbia 195 F.3d 654, 659 (D.C. Cir. 1999).

17 F. Supp. 3d 59, 69 (D.D.C. 2014). UnderCGhery standard, “aen the harasses not a
supervisoy,] ‘ [a]n employer may be held liable for the harassment of one employee by a fellow
employee (a nosupervisor) if the employer knew or should have known of the harassment and
failed to implement prompt and appropriate corrective actioldl. (emphasis in original)
(quotingCurry, 195 F.3d at 660). Ihyles this Court distinguished “subordinatesupervisor
harassment” and applied a modified version ofGhery standard to such an instandd.

Under thelLylesstandard, “[a) employer mg be held liable for the harassment of a supervisor
by a subordinate if the employer knew or should have known of the harassment and failed t
implement prompt and appropriate action; @temployer will not be liablor the sexual
harassment of a sup&wer by a subordinatehere the superviselaintiff had the ability to stop

the harassmerand failed to do s6 Id. at 70 (footnote omitted) (emphasis added).

While reserving judgment on whether BEP is liable under this standard, the Ceart not
that Plaintiff reported the Dunn incident to her supervisors, who appear, at a minorhavet
taken prompt action to investigate and attempt to resolve the coiggeSimmons Decl. 8;
Def.’s Exhibits Ex. 12-C; Thirdmith Decl. T 14 But seePl.’s SMF 33 (asserting thitr. Dunn
was never required to serve his suspension). Because Defendant develops its argument
concerning BEP’s liability for the first time in iteply brief,seeDef.’s Reply 1#18 (invoking
Lyleg, after only a passing mention of the fact that “Plaintiff alleges that hiez wiale
subordinates harassed her” in the footnote of its initial filing, Def.’s Mem. 14 n.6, theddesr
not rest its coclusion on this basisSee Sitka Sound Seafoods,, 1206 F.3d 1175, 1181 (D.C.
Cir. 2000) (explaining that courts in this Circuit have “generally held that issuesised until
the reply brief are waived,” including when a party refers to an argumeés opening brief and
then does not argue that point until its reply brief (qudBdgof Regents of Uniwf Washv.
EPA 86 F.3d 1214, 122(D.C. Cir. 1996)).
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Nor daes addinghe other alleged incidents sfxual harassmehy other employees to
the equatioralterthis conclusioras a matter of lawFor one, Plaintiff provides no details
concerning the allegations against sepervisors, making these contentions entirely conclusory
and unsubstantiated. What remains, then, are two further factual allegationseedvima®in’s
lewd comments inviting her to go to a strip club and to sexually engage with anatlaér fe
employeeseeSecond Newell Decl., and ongoing incidents, increasing in frequency in February
2014, wherein male employees would request “sexual favors under the guise of hrfid3),
and at least one male employee “referred to [her] as ‘Baby’ and ‘Honey  rentldegg Kevin
Gillespie,“touched [her] on the buttock,” Pl.’s Resp. Def.’s First Set of Interrogatfffiés9—

12. Thisalleged sexual harassmeatitoccurred prior tMs. Newell’'sMarch 2014 reassignment,
during her tenure as a Temporary Assistant Supervisor. Thus, each of the individualslinvolve
was Plaintiff's subordinate at the time of the alleged conduct.

On the record provided, no reasonable finder of fact could conclude that the alleged
events amount to actionably severe and pervasive discriminatory conduct towapes\ésory
official. The incident with Mr. Steormann, while inappropriate as a matter of proper wewkpla
conduct, was not a repeated offenBéaintiff states that it occurred “only one tirh&econd
Newell Decl. { 51, and that she addressed it by reprimanding Mr. Steormannpunene
apologizedjd. 11 48-49, 58-59. Ms. Newell reported the incident to her own supervisor, Ms.
Simmons, but she could not have viewed the incident involving her subordinate as too seriously
altering the terms of her supervisory position becauselsh®tely declined to furthgoursue
the matter. Pl.’'s SMF 12; Simmons Decl. § 41. Moreover, although Ms. Newell nosv raise
other sexual harassment claiman the record before the Court, they did not interfere with her

workplace conduct to the extent that she, as a supervisor, attempted to redresssiéor tgr
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turning to other administrative channels. NotaBlgintiff's supervisors aver that she did not
make them aware of any other sexual harassment allegations, nor did any otbgeesnp
inform them of any such conducg&immons Decl. 1Y 42—4&jrst Smith Decl. § 3941. And
Plaintiff herself does not provide any further detail concerning the fregwéice other
harassing conduandicatehow she addressed the offending individuater any details or
other evidence to pinpoint the frequency of the alleged conduct with any specifictlieorise
provide factual allegations or further egitte tasuggest how it “unreasonably interfere[d] with”
her “work performance,Stewart 275 F.3dat 1134-35(citing Harris, 510U.S.at21-23, in
particular given that, as these employees’ supervisor, she appears to mapedits@ned to
address these incidents herssdfeAnti-Harassment Policy Statement (stating agency policy
under which BEP supervisory officials are to respond to such harassmktkiff has
accordingly failed to substantiate how her sexual harassment allegations amount to actionably
severe and pervasive contlby her subordinates. Without more, however, these allegations are
not actionable under Title VIISeeGreeng 164 F.3cat675 (no genuine issue for trial based on
conclusory assertions offered without evidentiary support).

In sum, then,akingall theseincidentstogethey noreasonablénder of fact could
concludethatMs. Newell wassubjectedo discriminationbasedon hersexin away thatwasso
severeor pervasivethatit affectedthetermsandconditions oheremployment Thus, the Court

grantssummaryjudgment orthis aspecof Plaintiff's claim 23

23 Because it decides the issue on this basis, and not on the basis that Ms. Newell did not
administratively exhaust this claim, the Court does not address Plaintiffimangthat
equitable tolling is warranted.
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b. Allegations of Hostile Work Environment Based on Race

In addition to her allegations concerning smsedliscrimination, Plaintifitontendghat
she was subjected to “different and disparate conditions of employment on thef Iba@sisice.”
Compl. 1. That said, the majority of her complaint involves allegations of sexussmaat,
see idat 1 9 (alleging that Ms. Newell “was subjected to numerous incidents of unveelcom
sexual advances, requests for sexual favors[,] and otheal &b physical conduct of a sexual
nature”) and a hostile work environment based onsesjd {1 15-16. Although the reported
incidents involved “White males in her departmeid, 13, it is sex and not race that appears
front and center in all buine of the incidents. The sole factual allegation that directly raises the
issue of a hostile work environment based on race is Mr. Smith’s March 2014 meeting on the
shop floor, which Plaintiff characterizes as “a meeting with all White males”xbaided “all
Blacks and females.1d. 1 14;see als&Gecond Newell Decl. § 68 (“Mr. Smith segregated the
employees and met exclusively with Caucasian males and the topic of the mestipigek
females including me.”). Without knowing the date on which this meeting occurredptine C
cannot be certain whether it is tirbarred?® But even assumingrguendathat it was timely
filed, as set forth below, this single factual allegation cannot establish ke otk
environment based on racial discrimination.

As discussed previously with respect to Plaintiff’'s sexual harassmentxabdsed
discrimination claim, a hostile work environment that violates Title VII occurshgwi]the
workplace is permeated with ‘discriminatory intimidation, ridicule, and insiat’ ith

‘sufficiently severe or pervasive to alter the conditions of the victim’s @nmnt and create an

24 As discussed above, because Plaintiff initiated contact with an EEO counseloy on Ma
2, 2014, any event occurring prior to March 18, 2014, falls outside tdayStatutory filing
window.
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abusive working environment.'Harris, 510U.S.at 21 (1993) (quotind/eritor Sav Bank,

FSB 477U.S.at65, 67. Even if a plaintiff alleges argssful or harsh work environment, not
every such workplace is “discriminatorily abusive” such that it is actienafder Title VII.
Harris, 510 U.Sat 22;see also Tucker. Johnson211F. Supp. 3d 95, 10(D.D.C. 2016)
(discussing Title VII's “demanding legal standard” (quotBeygbauer vMabus 934 F. Supp.

2d 55, 77 n.20 (D.D.C. 2013))A court evaluating the incidents presented as part of a hostile
work environment claim is to analyze the totality of the circumstances anditier the
frequencyof theharassingonductts severity,whetherit is physicallythreateningr
humiliating,andwhetherit unreasonablinterfereswith anemployeés work performance.”
Stewart vEvans 275F.3d 1126, 1134-3%D.C. Cir. 2002) €iting Harris, 510U.S.at21-23;

see alsdBaloch v Kempthorne550 F.3d 1191, 12QD.C. Cir. 2008. Although there is no firm
rule concerning the minimum number of incidents required, and although a court is to consider
“whether the alleged conduct is ‘sufficiently severg@ervasive'—written in the disjunctive,it

is rare for a single incident to ctea hostile work environmenAyissiEtohv. FannieMae 712
F.3d 572, 579D.C. Cir. 2013) (Kavanaugh, J., concurring) (citirgragher, 524 U.Sat 788;
Stewart 275 F.3d at 1134 reedman vMCI TelecommsCorp., 255 F.3d 840, 848-49 (D.C.
Cir. 2001)).

Here, the evidence presented concerning the shop floor meeting does not establish tha
this incident was so severe that it alone can sustain Plaintiff's claim of a hos#le wor
environment based on race. The evidence concerning this meeting does not point to aaly physi
abuse or threat of the sort that courts have found actiongbkeidat 580 (“Courtsand
commentatorslike agreethatasinglephysicalact—suchasaphysicalassault—cancreatea

hostilework environment. (citing cases)). Nor is this the sort of “singlerbal (or visual)
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incident” that has been found “sufficiently severe to justify a finding of alaesbrk
environment.”ld. For exampleAyisstEtohinvolved the alleged us® a “deeply offensive
racial epithet” when yelling at an employee, which the Circuit suggestight'mell have been
sufficient to establish a hostile work environmend’ at 295. Courts in other circuits have,
moreover, found that a single act sushraciallycharged graffiti that “can be described as
nothing less than a death threat” aimed directly at the plaiReéf#dy vQuebecor Printing
Eagle, Inc, 333 F.3d 906, 909 (8th Cir. 2003), was so severe as to permit the plaintiff to make
out a hostile work environment claim.

Even taking all factual allegations as true and construing all ambiguiti@gdr of Ms.
Newell, the shop floor meeting does not reach a similarly actionable levelevitge There is
no evidence that Mr. Smith employechdgating racial epithets or other racially charged
language. Nor is there any evidence that he threatened minority emplogessaay.
Although the sort of segregated meeting that Plaintiff alleges could senceeydonessage of
exclusion, that expressive signal alone does not rise to the level of sevaistéanding alone,
can support a race-based hostile work environment claim. Thus, because she has not provided
any other support for a claim of hostile work environment based onRketiff fails to offer
evidence that would permit a reasonable juror to find a genuine issue of mattiaal fiais

aspect of her complaint.

25 This conclusion would not change even if the Court added the confrontations with
white male employees that do not involve sexual harassment (e.g., beatgagedhd called an
idiot) to this analysis. As the Court addressed previomsparsing Plaintiff's sex discrimination
claim, these sorts of sporadic verbal altercations are not actionably eavérsr own.See
AyissiEtoh 712 F.3d at 579 (Kavanaugh, J., concurring). ddmsa total of four incidents in
four months create a pervasively abusive work environment based on raceidgmm
especially where, as here, Plaintiff does not point to any other evidence ¢iatingor
threatening conduct allegedly based onrhee.
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C. 2017 Retaliation andDiscrimination Claims

In additionto theclaimsarisingfrom her 2014EEO complaint,Ms. Newell alsoseeks
relief basedon claimsthat sheadministrativelyfiled in 2017. The Court now turngo
Defendant’smotionfor summaryjudgment on thesgaims.

1. 2017Non-SelectionClaim

Ms. Newell contactecan EEO counselor ougust25, 2017 allegingthat“BEP had
discriminatedagainstherbasedon herraceandageandretaliatedagainstor prior EEO activity
whenshewasdeniedthe position oPlatePrinterAssistantSupervisoin November 2015.Pl.’s
SMF 39-40. Ms. Newellfiled aformal complaintfor this claim onDecembe#, 2017.1d. at 39.
Defendantrgueghatthis claimis “time-barredbecauselaintiff failed to initiate contactwith
an EEO counselomwithin 45 daysof learningof her nonselectionfor the permanenssistant
Supervisor positiond@ctober2015)[][or] thedenialof herrequesto takeatrainingclass
(February2017).” Def.’s Mem. 15. Plaintiff retortsthatherclaimsarenottime-barredbecause
she “onlybecameawarethather 2015 nonselection [| wasdiscriminatory[]in August 2017,”
Pl.’s Opp’n 32-33suchthatshetimely filed this complaint. Ms. Newell assertghat, between
notification of hernonselectionin October2015 andherEEOcontactin 2017, shénadbeen
operatingunderthebeliefthatthe four individualselectedor the 2015/acancywereservingas
“acting PlatePrinterAssistantSupervisors, andnotaspermanensupervisorghoserto fill the
job announcementPl.’s Opp’nEx. 93-B, EEO Counselor's Report £CFNo. 19-95;seealso
Pl.’s Opp’n 32-33 (quotingEO Counselor'Report). Thus,accordingto Plaintiff, she
contactedhe EEO counseloassoonassherealizedthattheseindividualshadin factbeen

selectedor the permanemosition, andthe Court shoulavaive or toll theforty-five-day
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requiremenfor hernonselectionclaim. Id. at 32. Forthereasonsetforth below,Defendant
hasthebetterargumen

Again, federalregulationsestablishstrict timing requirementshatapplyto Title VII
claims. A federalgovernmenemployeewho “believds] theyhavebeendiscriminatedagainst
on thebasisof” raceor gender mustontactan EEO Counselomwithin forty-five daysof a
personnehctionallegedto bediscriminatory. 29 C.F.R. § 1614.10&). For a norselection
casetherelevantpersonneéctionoccurson the“date[] whenothercandidatesreofficially
promoted.” Vasser. McDonald 228F. Supp. 3d 1, 18D.D.C. 2016)(citing Jakubiak v
Perry, 101 F.3d 23, 2627 (4th Cir. 1996)).

Notwithstanding these regulatory requiremenfi$n“thecontextof non{selection]
courtsareopento tolling administrativedeadlinesuntil thetime whenthe complainanhad
reasorto knowthatshewasnotselectedor a promotion.” Sierral, 254 F. Supp. 3dt 241
(citing Hairston v Tapella 664F. Supp. 2d 106, 11¢D.D.C.2009). This is not a remedy to be
granted lightly: equitable tolling “is granted only in ‘extraordinangcarefullycircumscribed
circumstances. Harris v. Gonzales488 F.3d 442, 444 (D.C. Cir. 2007) (quottgith-Haynie
v. District of Columbia, 155 F.3d 575, 580 (D.C. Cir. 19983Fe als®ierra |, 254 F. Supp. 3d
at 239(“[T] imely administrative filing is, with rare exception, a prerequisite to filing3uit.
(citing Achagzai vBroad Bd. of Governors170 F. Supp. 3d 164, 180 (D.D.C. 2018yrsey v
United State®ept of State 170 F. Supp. 3d 256, 267 (D.D.C. 2016ughlin v Holder, 923
F. Supp. 2d 204, 211 (D.D.C. 2013)tation omitted)Mondy v Secy of theArmy, 845 F.2d
1051, 10574D.C.Cir. 1988). The petitioner bears the burden of showingcihaimstances
exist to warrant tolling.Harris, 488 F.3cdat 444 (citing Harris v. Attorney Genof the United

Staes 400 F. Supp. 2d 24, 26 (D.D.C. 20p5)
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Here,becausd is undisputedhatPlaintiff wasnotified of hernonselectionfor the
permanenpositionin October 2015thatthe fourcandidatesverepromoted on November 1,
2015,andthatPlaintiff contactecan EEO counseloregardingthis nonselectionfor thefirst
timein August 2017PI.’s SMF 31-33this claimis time-barredunlessMs. Newell cancarry her
burdento establishtthat equitabletolling is warrantec?® Harris, 488 F.3dat 444 (statingthatthe
partywho seeksequitabletolling hasthe burderio “prov[e] reasonghatwould support . ..
tolling of the 45-dayime limit.”” (quoting Harris, 400F. Supp.at 26); seeVassey 228F. Supp.
3dat12 (quotingHarris, 488 F.3cat 444). But Ms. Newell cannotsatisfyherburdento show
thatsheneitherknew nor should have known about #llegeddiscriminationandretaliation
until August 2017.Plaintiff contendghatshe did not haveeasorto know becauseshe
erroneouslypelievedthatthe fourselectedndividualswereoperatingn an“acting,” not
permanentcapacityuntil thistime. Pl.’s Opp’n32-33. Ms. Newell maintainsghatsheis
thereforeentitledto equitableolling becauseshe“notiflied] anEEO counselomwithin 45 daysof
‘apprehend[ingthatan adverseemploymentecisionwasmotivatedby adiscriminatory
purpose.” Vassey 228F. Supp. 3dat 13 (quotingPachecov. Rice 966F.2d904, 906(5th Cir.
1992); seealsoMiller v. Hersman 594 F.3d 8, 12D.C. Cir. 2010)(favorablyciting Pachects
construal of thdorty-five-dayrule). But thatis not the controlling standard:helaw does not
askwhenshein factapprehendetheallegeddiscrimination. Thetestis, rather,whenshe should
havehadareasonable suspicioof discriminatoryandretaliatorynon-selection. Armmstrongy.

JacksonNo. CIVA 05-0075JDB, 2006WL 2024975at*4 (D.D.C. July 17, 2006) (T]his

26 Again, Plaintiff asks, without providing more argumentation or specificity conggrnin
the nature of any waiver, for the Court to waive or toll the timing requiremestaule
Defendant timely raised the affirmative defense of administrativeerbaustion in its answer,
there is nothing in the record before the Court that suggests that it waived tinieatg The
Court thus considers only equitable tolling here.
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Circuit employsareasonablsuspiciorstandardvhendeterminingwhetherto toll thelimitations
period.”(citing 29 C.F.R. 8§ 1614.105(a)(Jtewart v Ashcroff 352 F.3d 422, 42@.C. Cir.
2003)).

Plaintiff should havdnadsucha reasonable suspicianthetime of hernonselectionand
the promotion of the four otheandidates At no point doed/s. Newell disputethatthe four
selecteesverepromoted on November 1, 2084,’s SMF 32, orthat shelearnedof herown
non-selectionfor the positionanylaterthanOctober2015,id. at 33. At thistime, Ms. Newell
hadalreadyfiled anEEO complaintallegingthat shewas“subjectedo disparatdreatment . .
whenonMarch31, 2014, shevasnotmadeapermanenPlatePrinterAssistantSupervisoand
wastold to returnto herPlatePrinterPosition.” AmendedEEO Acceptanced._etter, BatesNo.
00074. &enif she did notealizethatthe positionsverepermanenin October 2015, thee
uncontrovertedactsbothillustrateherawarenesghat othershadfilled thevacanciessof
November 1, 2015ndindicatethat on that date, sh&uspectear should have suspectpdor
improper condudby hersupervisors. Undéheseconditions, sh@ossessedt leastconstructive
awarenessf discriminatoryor retaliatoryconductat thetime of the nonselectionin October
2015. Accordingly,atthistime, Ms. Newell hadenoughnformationin herpossessioto trigger
a “reasonable suspicion” dfscrimination Armmstrong 2006WL 2024975at*4. Because
Plaintiff provides naeasorto believethat,exercising‘all duediligence,” shewasunableto
obtain“essential’informationto pursueherclaim atthistime, shehasnotcarriedherburdento
invoke equitableolling for thisclaim. Thus, the 2017 noselectionclaimis time-barred.

2. OtherAllegationsof DiscriminationandRetaliation

Plaintiff's complaint beforeghis Courtraisestwo furtherallegationsof, first,

discriminatoryand secondretaliatorydenialof atrainingopportunityin 2017anddenialof a
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bonusthatwerenotincludedin the 2017administrative complairdcceptedy theagency Pl.’s
Opp’n 40;seealsoCompl.1122—-23(“Otherretaliatoryactsincludeddenial of the opportunity
to takeleadershiglasseshatwould havenelpedNewell positionherselffor a promotion.
Newellwasalsodenieda bonusandwasgiven numeroudalsereasongor thedenial.”).
Defendantrgueghatthedenialof atrainingopportunityclaim, like Ms. Newell’'s 2017 non-
selectionclaim, is time-barredbecausét occurred‘on or aboutFebruaryl6, 2017,"whichis
morethanforty-five daysbeforePlaintiff administrativelypursuedhis claimin August 2017.
Def.’s Mem. 18. Defendanfurtherassertshatthe Court shouldgrantsummaryudgment on
Ms. Newell's claim for denialof a bonus omnunspecifieddate“becausePlaintiff offersno
evidenceahatit wastheresultof discriminationor retaliation.” I1d. at 18 n.7. Ms. Newell does
notaddresshe argumenthatthe 2017denialof trainingis time-barredatall. Instead Plaintiff
arguesbroadlythatshehaspointedto materialfactsin dispute accordingly,she assertthatBEP
hasnotcarriedits burdenin movingfor summaryjudgment.Pl.’s Opp’n 33. In support of this
contention Plaintiff reference$erstatemenof materialfacts,which assertshatMs. Newell
wasdeniedan“on the spotaward”despitethe inclusion ohernamefor this bonusandthefact
thatall the othemembersof herteamreceivedthis bonus.Pl.’s SMF 34. Plaintiff alsoalleges
thereinthatshewasdeniedatraining opportunity orpretextualscheduling groundsyhereas|a]
white[] malewith no knownEEO activity alsohadthesameamount of [schedulingjoverage
butwasapprovedor the training.” Id. at 35. For thereasonsetforth below, Plaintiff's

argumentareunavailing.
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a. Denial of Bonu€laim

In associatiorwith the nonselectionclaim, Ms. Newell allegeshat BEP retaliatedand
discriminatedagainsther by denyinghera bonus’’ Compl. 1,  23PI.’s Opp’n 24. Because
Defendantannot’pin downtheprecisedatein 2017” onwhich thecontestedon the spot”
bonuswasawardedijt doesnotallegethatPlaintiff failed to administrativelyexhausthis claim.
Def.’s Mem. 18 n.7. Defendaninsteadargueshat the Court shoulgrantsummaryjudgment
becausés. Newell hasnot presenteavidenceo establishthatthedenialof anybonus‘was the
resultof discriminationor retaliation” 1d. The Courtwill first consideMs. Newell's retaliation
claim before turningo herdiscriminationclaim. Forthefollowing reasonspefendantasthe
betterargumenin bothfronts.

Theantiretaliationprovision ofTitle VII “forbidsanemployerfrom ‘discriminat[ing]
againstanemployeeor jobapplicantbecausehatindividual ‘opposednypractice’made
unlawful by Title VII or ‘madeachargetestified,assistedor participatedn’ a Title VII
proceedingr investigation.” Burlington N & Santa Fe RyCo., 548 U.Sat56 (quoting 8
2000e-3(a)). Where,ashere,thereis only indirectevidenceof intentionaldiscrimination,the
claimantmayrely on the previouslyescribedvicDonnell Douglaghreestepmethod of proof.
SeeHernandez vPritzker, 741 F.3d 129, 133 (D.C. Cir. 2013). Againderthis framework,
once ‘theemployerhasprofferedalegitimate,non+etaliatoryreasorfor achallenged
employmentction,” the “central question” for the court to addressvisethertheemployee

producedsufficientevidencedor a reasonable juny find thattheemployers assertechon-

27 plaintiff's complaint refers to this denial as retaliatory. CompB.{ Rlsewhere,
Plaintiff characterizes this allegation as both discriminatory and retalig®bfg.Opp’'n 24
(“Ms. Newell also offers the discriminatory denial of a bonus as further exadef the
retaliatory and discriminatory environment that she sudgected to.”). The Court thus reads
Plaintiff's allegation as one of both retaliation and discrimination.
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retaliatoryreasorwasnot theactualreasorandthattheemployerintentionallyretaliatedagainst
theemployean violation of Title VII.” Id. (quotingMcGrath v Clinton, 666 F.3d 1377, 1383
(D.C. Cir. 2012)).

Here, Defendant assert$egitimate,non+etaliatory reason for the alleged denial of a
bonus. Relying on a declaration by Mr. Smillefendanstates that night shift employdal not
receive the bonus arMs. Newell was not within the class of daytime employees who received a
bonusthat year.SeeThird Smith Decl. 28 More specifically, Defendant describibe
contested bonus as an “on the spot” award that management grants at it®discretognize
“employees that perform their duties above and beyond their normal requiréniiritssSMF
34. On the year in question, 2017, Defendant states that the “on the spot” award went to
employee®n the daytime work shift who had completed a testing project in Section Six. Third
Smith Decl. { 28 Because Ms. Newell was assignedhe evening work shift at this time,
neither Ms. Newell nor any other employees on the evening shift received this bbhnus
Because this relatively specific, substantiated explanation is sufficipetinit a reasonable
juror whocredits it to belieg Defendant’s nowliscriminatory rationale, Defendant has carried
its burden of productioat the second step of ttcDonnell Douglagramework

The burden thus shifts back to Plaintiff, who must prodscdfitient evidence for a
reasonable jury to find that . . . [BEP’s] asserted redaliatoryreason was not the actual
reason” for its denial of a bonudicGrath,666 F.3d at 1383 (internal alterations and quotation
marks omitted).In support of her clainiis. Newellrelieson her own account of the denial.
She presents her own sworn statentieat “everyone on her team” receivedrt.’'s Resp. Def.’s
First Set of Interrogatories ¢oupled with references to the denial of a bonus in her initial

contact with an EEO counse] seeBEP Office of Equal Opportunity and Diversity
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Management Initial Contact Sheet B addition, although she does not elaborate on the

grievance procedure, Ms. Newell states that she ultimately received ths ‘fajfter numerous

complaints and informing the Agency attorneys in the EEO matter.” Complsg3ajsd’l.’s

Opp’n 24 (“[Blefore Ms. Newell was able to receive the bonus, she was requiggd\te [sic]

it.” (citing Pl.’'s Resp. Def.’s First Set of Interrogatories 7)). At no poinsdds. Newell

provide any further detail regarding the reasons that she was ultimgatetythe bonus or any

further evidence in support of her claim that the initial denial was retalidfovyithout more,

no reasonable trier of fact could find that Defendant’s stated, nonretalisdspnrevas pretext

for retaliation. The same is truabout Ms. Newell’s allegation that denial of the bonus was

discriminatory (as opposed to retaliatory). Without any evidentiary supportt&insher

allegation, which Plaintiff does not provide, there is nothing with which to rebut Defendant’

nondiscriminatory explanation about night versus slaift employees.Thus, Plaintiff has not

carried her burden of proof for eithieer discriminatory and retaliatory denial of bonus claim.
Moreover, as Defendant notesanextremely cursory fashiothis aspect of Plaintiff's

claim is moot because Ms. Newell admits that she eventually received thstedttenus.

Def.’s Mem.34 n.11 (citing Pl.’s Resp. D&f.First Set of Interrogatories Bee alsdef.’s

Reply 35 (citing Pl.’s Opp. 24)Where, as her@n allegedly adverse employment action in the

form of denial of a bonus is corrected before a plaintiff files suit, thisu€inas held that “there

was no unremedied adverse employment action when the suit was filed,” and sumgragnjud

is appropriate.Taylor, 350 F.3cat 1294. Thus, écausevis. Newell admits that she received the

28 plaintiff's initial complaint mentions “numerous false reasons for the denialyidimg
shifting explanations, Compl. § 23, but there is nmiadible evidence in the record in which
Ms. Newell develops these factual allegations. Without further development in hettioppms
any evidentiary support, these conclusory allegations fail to substantiafi@ie Greene 164
F.3d at 675.
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bonusthere remains nonremedied adverse employment action to contest before the Court, and
summary judgment on this claim is appropriate on these separate grounds.
b. Denial of TrainingClaim

Finally, Ms. Newell claimsthat shewasdiscriminatedandretaliatedagainstvhenher
supervisorMr. Smith,deniedheratraining opportunitythata“White male counterpartivas
allowedto pursue?® Compl. § 22.But Ms. Newell did nottimely file this claim. As the Court
previouslyexplained shewasrequiredto contactan EEO counselomwithin forty-five-daysof the
allegeddiscriminatoryor retaliatoryevent. Here,assumingrguendahattheallegeddenialof a

training opportunityis “ reasonablyelatedto theallegation’ thatMs. Newell administratively
filed in August 2017and“growing out ofsuchallegations” Haynes 924F.3dat 526 (citing,
thenquoting,Park, 71F.3dat907), this claimis time-barredbecausélaintiff did notinitiate
EEO contactwithin forty-five daysof its occurrence.Moreover,on theCourt’sbestreadof her
argumentsor tolling or waiver,seePl.’s Opp’n 31-32, Plaintiff does noseekequitabletolling

concerninghis aspecof herclaim. Thus,Ms. Newell cannot pursueelief for this allegationfor

thefirst time beforethis Court.

29 As with her claim regarding nopayment of a bonus, Plaintiff initially refers to this
denial of a training opportunity as retaliatory. Compl. fs2& alsd”l.’s Opp’n 21 (noting that
individual allowed to take class had “no known EEO activity”). Elseejsre appears to allege
that this denial was discriminatory. Pl.’s Opp’n 6 (“Ms. Newell timely cdeththe EEO office
.. . after she learned that she was discriminated against on August 2017 for tinertioreed
non-selections . . . as well as hal of training.”). The Court takes these filings to allege
both retaliation and discrimination.
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V. CONCLUSION
For theforegoingreasonspefendant’smotionfor summaryjudgmentis GRANTED.

An order consistenwith this Memorandum Opiniors separatly andcontemporaneously issued.

Dated: January 3, 2020 RUDOLPHCONTRERAS
United StateDistrict Judge



